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FOREWORD

Since the founding of Fort Leavenworth in 1827, the years have brought
about a trangition in atmosphere at the post from that of a frontier gar-
rison to one of advanced military education. During these changing times
in the development of our Nation, Fort Leavenworth has continuously
fulfilled missions of increasing importance to the Armed Forces of the

United States.

The actiyities, events, and accomplishments that have taken place here
deserve to be a source of pride for all personnel, past and present, who
served at Fort Leavenworth. This History of Fort Leavenworth, 1952-63
brings up fo date the original history written in 1927 by Col Elvid Hunt,
revised by Capt Walter E. Lorence in 1937, and published for the period
1937-561 by Col Orville Z. Tyler.

eneral, US Army
Commandant
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Main entrance te Fort Leavenworth

CHAPTER |
INTRODUCTION

Fort Leavenworth today is a picturesque,
tree-shaded military reservation of some 6,000
acres abounding with historical markers, monu-
ments, and structures that graphically aid the
observer in bridging the gap from the present
to the rich heritage of the past. In addition to
the U. 8. Army Command and General Staff
College and a multitude of fine Post faeilities,
Fort Leavenworth is the gite of a National
Cemetery, the US Disciplinary Barracks, the
Midwest Relay Station, and an air defense mis-
sile battery.

Centrally located in the heart of the United
States on the western bluffs of the Missouri
River, Fort Leavenworth was founded in 1827.
In May of that year, an expedition of four in-
fantry companies under the command of Col
Henry Leavenworth landed in keel boats at the
present site of the Post to establish a permanent
military garrison for the protection of overland
trade along the Santa Fe Trail. The location
selected by Colonel Leavenworth was approved
by the War Department and the new outpost

was designated “Cantonment Leavenworth.”
The following years were busy ones for the
garrison which was charged with the mission
of keeping peace between Indians and traders
while protecting the interests of the Govern-
ment, Later, as the westward movement of
immigrants opened the Oregon Trail in 1845,
protection of caravans and the exploration of
territory along this route were added to the mis-
sions of Post troops. By mid-nineteenth century
the Post, now designated “Fort Leavenworth,”
had become a main depot from which the mili-
tary outposts of the West were supplied, and
an important station of cavalry troops engaged
in the protection of settlers and Government
agencies from the marauding Plains Indians.

The signing of the Kansas-Nebraska Act in
May 1854 triggered a rush of claim-staking
“Free Staters” and “Slave Staters” into these
new territories west of the Missouri River. The
ensuing border troubles between the two fac-
tions frequently required the intervention of
military forces from Fort Leavenworth. During
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this same period, military operations were
directed to suppress the ever more hostile In-
dians, as the tribes in the area were forced
from land and livelihood by the settlers, The
city of Leavenworth, then situated 8 miles south
~ of the Post, became the first incorporated town
in the Kangag Territory in June 1854, and the
first territorial governor established his office
and quarters at the Fort in October of that
year.

With the outbreak of the Civil War, Fort
Leavenworth served as a base of operations
for Federal troops in Kansas and Missouri.
Camp Lincoln was established on the reserva-
tion as a center for mustering in, equipping
and training regional volunteers, and muster-
ing them out of the Union forces as their
terms of enlistment expired. This camp was in
operation from 1861 until 1865 when the end
of the war presaged a new role for Fort Leaven-
worth.

The incredible hardships suffered by pris-
oners of the Civil War resulted in far-reaching
reforms of the existing military prison system.
In 1874 provisions were made for a military
prison to be located at Fort Leavenworth fo
serve as a facility for long-term prisoners then
confined in guardhouses at each of the various
military installations throughout the country.
Conversion of quartermaster buildings to a
military prison was completed in the spring of
1875 and the transfer of prisoners to Fort
Leavenworth was begun.

The Civil War also brought about the realiza-
tion that the officer corps of the Army required
a progressive system of military education in
addition to the essential qualities of leadership
recognized in the past. Fort Leavenworth was
destined to play a major and continuing part
in this educational system. While President of
the United States, Gen Ulysses S. Grant ordered
a reorganization of the Army which provided
for formal officer schooling. As a result, Gen
Philip H. Sheridan was directed to establish
the first school for advanced officer education
within the Military Division of the Missouri.!
For some time, Maj Gen John Pope, command-
ing the Department of Missouri, had urged the
consolidation of the numerous small outposts
in his area of responsibility by the establish-

1 The Military Division of the Missouri consisted of
the following Departments: Texas, Dakota, the Platte,
and the Missouri.

ment of a sizable garrison and military school
at Fort Leavenworth. General Pope’s recom-
mendations were, to a large extent, responsible
for the issuance of General Orders Number 42
by Headquarters of the Army on 7 May 1881
which directed that a Schoo! of Application
for Infantry and Cavalry be organized at Fort
Leavenworth.

Col Elwell S. Otis was appointed comman-
dant of the school, an academic staff was as-
sembled, and a course of instruction prepared
for the first class of 42 student officers which
commenced in March 1882. The title of the
school was changed in 1886 to the United
States Infantry and Cavalry School and con-
tinuous improvements were made in the course
of instruction and the academic facilities. In
1898, the Spanish-American War, and the
Philippine Insurrection which followed, caused
a suspension of systematic Army education for
4 years.

Fort Leavenworth was designated a per-
manent post in 1902 and was garrisoned with a
regiment of infantry, a squadron of cavalry, an
artillery battery, an engineer battalion, a sig-
nal company, and medical detachments., These
troop units were placed in support of the school
which reopened in August of that year as the
General Service and Staff College. In this
same year, the remains of General Leaven-
worth, who had died of illness and injuries in
1834 while on campaign along the Santa Fe
Trail, were reinterred in the Fort Leavenworth
Naticnal Cemetery. The elaborate ceremonies,
which took place on Decoration Day, were at-
tended by thousands of people.

The sehool was again closed in 1916 for the
duration of World War I Graduates served
with distinction during the war in key posi-
tions, some commanding divisions and brigades
while many others were assigned high level
staff duties. During these war years, Fort
Leavenworth became a training camp for in-
ductees, and the school faeilities were used to
train officer candidates.

The school system was reinstated at the Post
in 1919 with the opening of the School of the
Line and the more advanced General Staff
School, In the years between World Wars 1
and II, approximately 4,500 officers were grad-
uated from the academic institution at Fort
Leavenworth.
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When the United States was drawn into
World War II, for the first time during a
national emergency the school continued op-
erations. An expansion of the educational pro-
gram and school facilities began on an un-
precedented scale. Instruction was intensified
as courses were shortened and the size of the
classes increased tremendously. From the 27
wartime classes which were conducted, approxi-
mately 19,000 graduates were provided the
Armed Forces. In addition to the school, the
garrison of Fort Leavenworth again supported
the needs of the emergency by processing hun-
dreds of thousands of personnel through indue-
tion, reception, and separation centers organ-
ized at the Post.

The school was given its present designation,
the Command and General Staff College, in
1946 in recognition of its status as a higher
institution for professional military education.
An Associate Course was added the following
year. This shorter course of instruction pro-

vided the means to train additional officers, in-
cluding those from the National Guard and
Reserve components., In 1950, Fort Leaven-
worth supported the Army War College which
was relocated at the Post to resume operations
that had been interrupted by the war. This eol-
lege was moved to Carlisle Barracks, Pennsyl-
vania, after the graduation of the first class
in 1951.

The Korean War made increased demands
on Fort Leavenworth and the College for offi-
cers to fill command and staff positions of an
Army expanding through partial mobilization.

The cold war has emphasized further the re-
quirements for mature, skilled leadership in
the diversified Army of today. The chapters
that follow deal with the activities, accomplish-
ments, and missions fulfilled by Fort Leaven-
worth and the U. S. Army Command and Gen-
eral Staff College in keeping pace with these
requirements.
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The Post in 1957 (view to the north)

CHAPTER H
SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AND ACTIVITIES

The tempo of routine was quickened at Fort
Leavenworth in 1952 as the Post and the U. 8.
Army Command and General Staff College met
the mobilization requirements of the Korean
War. Many more students were in residence at
the College than in previous years. The number
enrolled in the Regular Course rose to over 500,
and the Associate Courses, scheduled on a semi-
annual basis, provided an increased supply of
officers trained for command and staff duties.
Although it was termed a “conflict”’ and fought
in a far-away country, the war remained prom-
inent in the thoughts of most Army personnel
even as it began to fade from the headlines. The
fierce winter battles had been fought at Bloody
and Heartbreak Ridges, and the Korean front
was in a condition of uneasy stalemate as peace
talks were resumed at Panmunjom,

In 1952, a distinguished soldier, the honor
graduate of the class of 1926 at Fort Leaven-
worth, Gen Dwight D. Eisenhower, was elected
to the highest office of our Nation. The hopes
for an early end to the fighting in Korea were
aroused by General Eisenhower’s pledge to
visit that wartorn country if elected and by the
United Nations truce talks. However, the bitter,
costly struggles for White Horse Mountain,
0ld Baldy, and Pork Chop Hill were still to
come.

During this same period, activity taking
place in Nevada was to require an entirely
new appraisal of the concepts for tactical war-
fare. This activity culminated the following
year in an intense bright flash and the rise
of an ominous, ugly, mushroom-like cloud over
Frenchman’s Flat, With this successful detona-
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tion of a surface-delivered, relatively small-
yvield nuclear weapon, military texts and tac-
tical doctrine would never be the same.

Againgt this somber, potentially explosive
background, the events and activities at Fort
Leavenworth began in 1952, the wyear that
marked the 125th anniversary of service by the
Post to the Army and the United States.

THE YEARS 1952.55

Maj Gen Horace L. McBride, Commanding
General at Fort Leavenworth and Comman-
dant of the College, welcomed the 1952 General
Staff Course class shortly before his departure
from the Post to command the Army forces in
the Caribbean. His duties were assumed in
April by a recent veteran of the Korean War,
Mzaj Gen Henry I. Hodes, who had commanded
the 24th Infantry Division, served as Deputy
Commanding Genseral of the Eighth Army, and
been a member of the United Nations truce
delegation.

General Hodes “got his feet wet”—literally
—at Fort Leavenworth almost immediately as
the melting of unusually heavy snows swelled
the Missouri River to flocd stage. Hand to hand
combat was waged against the surging, muddy
waters by an improvised task force of person-

US Army Photo
Maj Gen Horaece L. McBride

nel calling themselves the “Fort Leavenworth
River Rats.” Organized from the Post garrison,
including the Army Band, inmates of the Dis-
ciplinary Barracks, civilian employees, staff
and faculty members, and student officers, the
task force labored for a week reinforcing and
raising the dikes protecting Sherman Air Force
Base. The river waters eventually rose more
than ten feet above the runways of the airfield
located in the northeastern part of the mili-
tary reservation. Troop units from Fort Riley,
Kansas, and Fort Leonard Wood, Missouri, ar-
rived to assist the personnel from the Post and
work continued until, just as the battle ap-
peared to have been won, & section of dike col-
lapsed and forced an evacuation of the area.
All of the flood-fighters were evacuated safely
under the personal direction of General Hodes,
including those stranded on the dikes who were
picked up by a hard-working engineer barge,
the “Chico.” The river which quickly covered
the airfield, receded within a few weeks. The
Post resumed normal operations and prepara-
tion for a combined celebration of Armed
Forces Day and Fort Leavenworth’s 125th
anniversary.

U8 Army Photo
Maj Gen Henry 1. Hodes
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The two-day celebration opened with a Pio-
neer Parade through the city of Leavenworth
on 9 May 1952. Horse-drawn vehicles from the
Post Museum, with drivers and passengers at-
tired in frontier dress and authentic military
uniforms of the past, were a eolorful sight to
the many spectators along the route of march.
An open house at Fort Leavenworth was
held following the parade with an impressive
array of weapons and equipment on display.
Troops of the 31st Infantry Division from
Camp Atterbury, Indiana, demonstrated the
firepower of a rifle company with a “mad
minute” of sustained fire from every available
weapon. Following a program by the Air Force
Drum and Bugle Corps and the Army Field
Band, the curtain was raised on an historical
pageant—Frontier Fort to Command College
—depicting the story of the Post from early
western exploration to the present time. Pre-
sented on two successive evenings in a natural
amphitheater south of Cody Road, the pro-
fessionally directed performance, climaxed by
a fireworks display, was the highlight of the
scheduled festivities. The program for the
second day included an Armed Forces Day
parade in Leavenworth, fly-overs by Air Force
and Navy aircraft, demonstrations of aerial
resupply and heavy equipment parachute drops,
a horse show, and the second presentation of
the pageant. The entire celebration, the largest
of its kind ever presented in the Fort Leaven-
worth area, commemorated this anniversary in
the growth and development of the Post in a
never-to-be-forgotten manner.

Graduation exercises for over 600 members
of the Regular Course were held the following
June, aceording to custom, on the tree-shaded
Main Parade—the site of the original Canton-
ment Leavenworth, Secretary of the Army
Frank Pace, Jr. delivered the graduation ad-
dress, and diplomas were presented by Col
Max S. Johnson, the Assistant Commandant.
This class, the largest thus far in the post-
World War II period, quickly dispersed to all
points of the compass, with many of its former
members in possession of orders for the Far
East Command (FECOM) and Eighth Army
units in Korea.

Projects for the improvement and expan-
sion of Post facilities to meet the needs of an
increasing student population continued. The
commissary was moved from an overcrowded

location in the Post Exchange building to its
present gite along the southern part of Grant
Avenue in a former consolidated mess hall,
Ground was broken for 74 sets of new student
quarters in the area east of Pershing Park.

General Johnson, promoted to brigadier gen-
eral the preceding November, left the position
of Agsistant Commandant in February 1953
for the Far East. His replacement, Col Charles
E. Beauchamp, who had commanded the 32d
Regiment in the early Korean fighting, arrived
from Washington, D. C., to assume the respon-
gibilities for the operations of the Command
and General Staff College. Within a few months
Col Thomas B. Hediken turned over his re-
sponsibilities as Chief of Staff at Fort Leaven-
worth, which involved the supervision of all
non-College elements at the Post, to Col Charles
G. Meehan,

The Fort Leavenworth Museum, possessing
one of the largest collections of old horse-drawn
wagons, carriages, and sleighs in existence, was
reopened on Armistice Day 1953. It had been
closed in 1950 pending approval by Department
of the Army for use of a building large enough
to house the entire collection. Through the ef-
forts of General Hodes, the museum was estab-
lished in the Bluntville area of the Post in a
former stable. Its valuable and interesting col-
lection of historically significant properties
again was placed on public display.

The Post Chapel at Fort Leavenworth, a
picturesque stone structure with an interior
lined with plaques perpetuating the memory of
deceased goldiers, held commemoration services
on 3 May 1953, Occasioned by the 75th anni-
versary of the laying of the cornerstone, the
services also dedicated a new electric organ in
memory of the officers and men of the 7th Cav-
alry Regiment who had given their lives in the
Korean War. Maj Melborne C. Chandler organ-
ized the fund that made the purchase of the
organ possible, and Miss Margaret C. Berry
was on hand, as she had been so often in the
past, to play the organ prelude for the service.

Saint Ignatius Chapel, a Gothic style struec-
ture located on the Post but the property of the
Kansas City Archdiocese, was in the process of
complete redecoration under the direction of
Chaplain (Maj) Joseph M. Mollner. The chapel,
already containing many historical testimonials
and memorials, was enhanced by bronze tablets
honoring the priests and military chaplains
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who had served at the Post since 1869. New
statuary and murals were also added.

As the year 1954 opened, the Post was re-
visited by a former Assistant Commandant of
the Command and General Staff College who
had gone on to win fame and the Medal of
Honor in Korea. Maj Gen William F. Dean
spent several days at Fort Leavenworth en
route to his new assignment with Sixth Army.
The Korean truce had become effective the pre-
ceding July when a 12-minute ceremony ter-
minated more than 3 years of bitter fighting.
The early days of that war were vividly re-
called by General Dean in an address to the
students of the College as he described the cir-
cumstances leading up to his capture, and his
long months of confinement by the North Ko-
reans.

In March 1954, Maj Gen Garrison H. David-
son, a former assistant commander of General
Dean’s 24th Infantry Division, was designated
to assume command of Fort Leavenworth upon
the departure of General Hodes for Europe.
Requirements of General Davidson’s assign-
ment as senior Army member of the Weapons
System Evaluation Group in Washington de-
layed his arrival at the post until July, and

U8 Army Photo
Maj Gen Garrison H. Davidson

promoted to one-star rank, acted as command-
ing general and commandant during the in-
terim period.

The same summer the residents of the Post
and the city of Leavenworth were startled by
the arrival of a seemingly inexhaustible sup-
ply of aircraft to Sherman Army Airfield?
Seventy-one liaison aireraft from Fort Sill,
Oklahoma, were flown to the airfield for recon-

naissance use by the students at the College.
" This, the largest group of aircraft ever as-

gsembled at the Post, conducted as many as 300
individual flights a day as students closely
scrutinized the terrain adjacent to the Mis-
souri River, the setting for a tactical problem
“Attack of a River Line.”

June 1954 was an active month at Fort Leav-
enworth. Traditionally busy just prior to grad-
uation ceremonies, which were held for some
600 students that year, the Post prepared to
take part in the Centennial Celebration with
the city of Leavenworth. The week-long cele-
bration, marking the 100th anniversary of the
city’s founding and the opening of the Kansas
Territory for settlement in 1854, included daily
parades, historical exhibits, athletic events, pic-
nies, horse shows, street dances, and numerous
other festive activities. A stage spectacle—
Jubilee—including 16 separate scenes portray-
ing the history of the area, was presented
nightly. Wednesday, 9 June, was proclaimed
“Military Day” and the Band and an Honor
Guard from Fort Leavenworth led troops from
Fort Riley, the Centennial Queen and her court,
high school bands, and other marching units
from various civie organizations in a massive
street parade.

Troops from Fort Riley participated two
weeks later in a regimental retreat parade to
honor the arrival of Secretary of the Army
Robert T. Stevens for a conference with his
civilian aides. Aides representing 37 states,
the District of Columbia, and the six continen-
tal armies were present for the conference—
the firat of its kind ever held. General officers
present included the Chief of Staff of the Army
and principal Department of the Army staff
members, and the Commanding Generals of the
Army Field Forces, the six army areas, and the
Military Distriet of Washington. For many of

! Name changed from Sherman Air Force Base with
the transfer from Air Force to Army control in 1958,
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the officers, among them Gen Maithew B.
Ridgway, Lt Gen Williston B. Palmer, and
Major Generals Arthur G. Trudeau, James M.
Gavin, Robert N. Young, and Gilman C. Mud-
gett, the conference was a homecoming to the
scene of their student days at the College.

A retirement ceremony was held in front of
Sherman Hall, the Post and College Headquar-
ters, on 31 July 1954 to honor Colonel Meehan
who was succeeded as Chief of Staff by Col
Chandler P. Robbins, Jr. General Davidson had
arrived to assume command at Fort Leaven-
worth and was present with other members
of the Post and the College staff and faculty
to bid Colonel Meehan farewell upon his com-
pletion of 30 years of Army service.

Otis Hall, originally constructed as quarters
for bachelor officers in 1902, wag the site of an
interesting event in June 1955. A plaque was
dedicated by Maj John 8. D. Eisenhower, im-
mediately after his graduation from the Col-
lege, to commemorate the residence in the build-
ing by President (then Major) and Mrs. Eisen-
hower in 1925-26. The president was then a
student in the Command and Staff School
where his son John claimed to remember his
father “sweating over his books in a study at
the top of the housge.’”

The housing situation at Fort Leavenworth
was becoming increasingly critical ag the size
of the College staff and faculty increased along
with the numbers of students at the Post. Over
100 student family housing units were recon-
structed from four-family quarters to their
original two-family design—a project which,
although necessary, further complicated the
problem. Appeals for rental housing were made
by the Post to all nearby communities from
Kansas City to Atchison, Kansas. Approval for
the construction of 50 Capehart duplex houses
was secured, and occupancy of the 237 sets of
“inadequate” quarters in the West Normandy
area was permitted on a voluntary basis. Con-
tinuing student occupancy of these converted
World War II barracks buildings has been per-
mitted up to the present time, although plans
call for them to be dismantled during 1964.
With the passing of these structures from the
Fort Leavenworth scene, a prime topic of con-
versation will have been eliminated among

*Kenneth 8. Davis, Soldier of Democracy, a Biog-
raphy of Dwight Eisenhower. New York, 1945.

those officers and wives claiming to have spent
most of the winter months adjusting thermo-
stats and window openings in the old buildings
that apparently remained frigid on the first
floor and stifling on the second, despite all at-
tempts to regulate the inside temperature.

The Fort Leavenworth Historical Committee
was organized by General Davidson to enhance
the prestige and history of the Post and the
Command and General Staff College. Originally
headed in 1955 by Col Louis Biittner, Director
of Administration at the Post, the committee
completed plans and initiated a program result-
ing in the identification and marking of historic
landmarks, places, and buildings at Fort Leav-
enworth as well as improvements and additions
to the Post Museum.

Brig Gen William F. Train had the stars
of that rank pinned on his shoulders by General
Davidson upon his arrival to assume the duties
of Assistant Commandant,

General and Mrs. Davidson contributed sig-
nificantly to the inerease in Post population in
September 1955 when twin daughters, Bonny
Elaine and Gail Marie, were born to them at
the Post hospital,

The old brick YMCA huilding, erected in
1907 on the corner of Pope and McClellan
Avenues by Miss Helen Miller Gould in memory
of her financier father, Jay Gould, was pur-
chased by the Post. It was then completely ren-
ovated at a cost of over $100,000, most of the
money coming from nonappropriaied special
services funds, as a facility for the use of all
Post personnel for reading, study, and recrea-
tion. Named the Patch Community Center after
the late Gen Alexander M. Patch, Jr., a gradu-
ate of the Command and General Staff School
who later commanded the Seventh Army during
the 1944 invasion of southern France, the build-
ing was officially reopened by General Davidson
in December.

THE YEARS 1956-59

General Davidson departed early in July 1956
for his new assignment at the United States
Military Academy. Fittingly, one of his last
official acts was to participate in a rededication
of the General Henry Leavenworth monument
in a ceremony held at the Fort Leavenworth
National Cemetery on the Fourth of July. The
incoming Commandant, Maj Gen Lionel C.
MeGarr, and his family met officers and ladies
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from the Post and members of the civilian
community at an official reception at the Of-
ficers’ Club. This social event marked the begin-
ning of a 4-year tour for General MeGarr'—
a tour that would result in numerous improve-
ments in the Post and major changes in the
College.

US Army Phote
Maj Gen Lionel C. McGarr

On 6 November 1956, General MeGarr turned
a shovelful of earth on Arsenal Hill which
aymbolically started construction of a new aca-
demic building at the Post for the Command
and General Staff College. Long required and
continually recommended, this construction
project would create the splendid facilities of
J. Franklin Bell Hall and provide an environ-
mental setting in keeping with the importance
of the instructional mission of the College.

Ceremonies were held later that same month
in connection with academic facilities for chil-
dren of dependents. The Commandant delivered
the principal address at dedications for two ele-
mentary schools on the Post. The recently com-
pleted structure on Biddle Boulevard was
named “The General Douglas MacArthur
School,” and the other school in the Pershing

*Maj Gen Stuart Heintzleman has heen the only
previcus commandant to serve a lenger tour of duty
(July 1929-February 1935) in the twentieth century.

Park area, which had been in use since 1953,
was named “The General Dwight D. Eisen-
hower School.” Messages of appreciation and
congratulations were received from both indi-
viduals for whom the schools were named.
Colonel Robbins, Deputy Post Commander,
left Fort Leavenworth in January 1957. Origi-
nally assigned as chief of staff, his position

title had been changed to deputy post com-

mander, although his responsibilities remained
unchanged. His successor, Col William W. Culp,
was no stranger to the Post, having just served
with the College for over 3 years on his fourth
tour of duty at Fort Leavenworth.

Another major change in personnel oceurred

“the following July. General Train, the As-

gistant Commandant, departed for the 8th In-
fantry Divigsion in Germany. More than 400 of-
ficers and their ladies filled the main ballroom
of the Officers’ Mess to wish the General and his
lady Godspeed. The gala evening featured a
skit concerning the general’s early life and
Army career. A satire of the well-known tele-
vision program, “This Is Your Life,” the skit
was based on documentation and pictorial mate-
rial provided by Mrs. Train. The office of the
Assistant Commandant was then occupied by
Brig Gen Frederick R. Zierath who had arrived
from an assignment with the 3d Infantry Divi-
gion at Fort Benning, Georgia. General and
Mrs. Zierath were introduced to the officers and
ladies of the Post, as well a8 many prominent
civic leaders from the local area, at the fare-
well reception for General Train.

As indicated earlier in this chapter, the Col-
lege was at this time to undergo a signifieant
reorganization and reorientation, as an entirely
new currieulum was planned and written for
the academic year 1957-58, “Keeping pace
with the future” became the watchword among
the hard-pressed members of the College staff
and faculty as this major undertaking was ac-
complished successfully.

Events were rapidly taking place in many
areas at Fort Leavenworth. A new five-digit
telephone dial system was ingstalled, creating
only temporary confusion among the many sub-
scribers to the Post Telephone Exchange. An
attractive information booth was constructed
of stone on Grant Avenue just inside the main

~ entrance as a service to the many vigitors to

Fort Leavenworth. Plans were announced for
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the construction of an additional 200 sets of
Capehart family quarters to begin in November
1957, as the initial construction project to house
100 families neared completion. Fort Leaven-
worth received the National Safety Council’s
“Award of Honor for Distinguished Service to
Safety” for superior achievements in accident
prevention for 1956. The award was presented
to General McGarr by the Commanding General
of the Fifth US Army, Lt Gen William H.
Arnold, who noted that the Post had received
similar recognition in a Department of the
Army award for the preceding year.

The Henry Leavenworth Chapter of the As-
sociation of the United States Army, which
had heen founded in October 1956, as one of
the first local chapters of that organization, an-
nounced the results of its first election in April
1957. The chapter, which has since grown to
one of the largest in the country and won
numerous awards for its support of the US
Army and its national defense mission, in-
stalled Harold E, Purdy of Kansas City, Mis-
souri, as its first president, and a board of
governors composed of local civilian members
and officers of the Post. Mr. Charles S. Steven-
son, who had served as temporary chairman of
the chapter from its inception and had guided
the initial organization, presided over the meet-
ing and the installation of new officers. Sched-
uled in conjunction with a chapter meeting
in the Post Theater were displays and demon-
gtrations of the latest Army equipment, an
open-air lunch for the attending members, a
band concert, and tours of the Post. Gen Charles
L. Bolte, US Army, Ret., delivered the prin-
cipal speech of the day. '

Pope Hall, which was built prior to the turn
of the century as a recreation and dance hall
for the Post garrison, was gutted by fire in
May 1957. The medieval-appearing structure,
with thick walls of locally quarried stone, was
used at the time to present instruction in the
tactical employment of nuclear weapons. The
fire was presumed to have been started by
faulty electrical wiring. Over $200,000 dam-
age was caused before the flames were brought
under control by Post and Leavenworth fire-
men, assisted by prisoners from the Disci-
plinary Barracks. The cost to repair the old,
familiar building was considered prohibitive,
and it was eventually torn down. Today, a metal
marker denotes the location of Pope Hall and

the former Kansas territorial capitol building
which earlier stood on the same site. The area
is now a parking lot.

Operation BLUBBER was brought to a
close in June as final results were announced by
Col Norman W. Anderson, the Post Surgeon.
The operation was an outcome of the Army-
wide emphasis on physical fitness, and was
designed to assist overweight personnel in
trimming down to a satisfactory level. Consist-
ing of diets, exercise, and periodic weighing
and measuring, the program was conducted
throughout the 1956-57 academic year. Re-
sults indicated that will power was probably
the most important requirement for sucecess.

The Post took on a “new look” effective with
the changeover to winter uniforms in October
1957, “Pinks and greens” and olive drab—
shade 33, the long-familiar semidress and
duty attire for Army officers, were placed in
storage as the Army Green uniform was pre-
seribed for all Army personnel. Many of the
out-dated uniforms later were collected and
donated to Allied armies and ROTC organiza-
tions.

The Fort Leavenworth Dramatics Club
opened the Post theatrical season with a 3-day
run of a comedy, “The Tender Trap.” Although
records indicate that dramatic productions
have been staged at Fort Leavenworth since
the days when General Custer is alleged to have
appeared before the footlights, it is doubtful
that any had been better received than this
overwhelming success. It was unanimously
agreed that everyone connected with the pro-
duction turned in an outstanding performance.
Lt Col Jean P. Meslet, the French Liaison Of-
ficer to the College, who was later to deservedly
gain a reputation as the “Chevalier of Fort
Leavenworth,” starred in his first Dramatic
Club role.

Fort Leavenworth was mentioned with in-
creasing frequency in the press media of the Na-
tion during the first half of 1958. The period
and the publicity will be remembered by many
because of the presence at the College of Lt Gen
Rafael L. Trujillo, Jr., son of the Dominican
Republic dictator, Because of his extracur-
ricular activities, the 28-year old general be-
came ineligible for the award of a graduation
diploma. :

In January 1958, a group of enthusiasts ob-
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tained official permission to form an off-duty
flying club at the Post. The Fort Leavenworth
Flying Club was chartered for purposes of ree-
reation and to stimulate interest in aviation.
Its constitution and by-laws provided that it
would be self-supporting. The regulations of
the Civil Aeronautics Association still govern
the operations and maintenance of the aircraft
used by the club. It Col Frederick St. John,
Post Transportation Officer at the time, was
elected the first club president. Two light air-
craft, an L-17 and an L-21 which were surplus
to the needs of the Army, were loaned to the
club until the club treasury would permit their
purchase. The club has increased in popularity,
-membership, and scope of activities to the
present time through its operations based at
Sherman Army Airfield.

The Post construction program was in evi-

U8 Army Phoio
Oregon Village dependent housing arew

dence in many parts of the military reserva-
tion, with most attention directed toward the
completion of Bell Hall. Work began in March
1958 on a permanent building to contain bach-

elor officers’ quarters and a student field ration

mess. The building was designed fo improve
living conditions for the many officers without
families at the Post. These consist of a bona-
fide bachelor variety as well as the geographi-
cal bachelors attending the shorter Associ-
ate Courses of the College for whom de-
pendent travel is not authorized. Additional
meal and snack service was provided in April
when a new cafeteria opened adjacent to the
Post Exchange. The first Capehart housing
project, Jocated south of the National Cemetery
near the junction of Cody Road and Biddle

Boulevard, was opened at the first of the year.
The housing area occupies ground astride a
branch of the famed Oregon Trail and, upon
the recommendation of the Fort Leavenworth
Historical Society, it was duly named “The
Oregon Village.” _

Ceremonies to start the construction of a
Nike Hercules missile air defense system for
the greater Kansas City area were held in July
1958 at what is now the headquarters area for
Battery D, 5th Missile Battalion, 55th Artil-
lery.

Students of the Tth, 8th, and 9th grades
at Fort Leavenworth began classes in a newly
completed school building on the east side of
Grant Avenue near the main entrance to the
Post. The school was dedicated in December
1958 by General MeGarr and named in honor
of Gen George S. Patton, Jr. General Patton’s
gon, a graduate of the Command and General
Staff College, expressed appreciation of the
dedication to his deceased father’s memory in
a message read during the ceremony.

Numerous sporting events were held at the
Post in 1958, The Annual Spring Horse Show,
sponsored by the Fort Leavenworth Hunt, was
held under ideal conditions on a May weekend.
The traditionally colorful events included equi-
tation and jumping, hunter, and parade com-
petition which drew contestants and spectators
from miles around. Members of the Hunt re-
vived an old custom in September by staging
an organized hunt ride over the rolling ter-
rain of the Post. Old coaches, which had been
used to follow the hunt in earlier days, were
again made available for transportation by the
Post Museum. The Sunday morning ride ended
at the Hunt Lodge where a bountiful breakf{ast

- wasg served to the riders and their guests.

The Fifth US Army Tennis Tournament was
held on the Post courts during the summer, and
was followed by the 1958 Inter-Service Golf
Tournament in August. The highlight of this
annual golf classic was the open division play
of 5-man teams from each of the services in
competition for the coveted James V. Forrestal
Trophy. Top honors in this event of 72-hole

medal play were carried off by the Army team

for the second straight year despite strong com-
petition.

Two other unrelated events—one historically
curious, the other historically nostalgic-—took
place just prior to the coming of winter. Nearly
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100 members of the Kansas City Horseless Car-
riage Club, determinedly driving 30 automobiles
of the period 1925 and earlier, made a stop-
over at the Post Museum during their annual
cross-country trip. The Fort Leavenworth Hunt
graciously offered equine asgsistance if required.
Fortunately for the pride of the intrepid motor-
ists, the offer proved unnecessary.

More than a dozen “stalwarts” of the 32d
US Volunteer Infantry Association paid a visit
to Fort Leavenworth during their 25th annual
reunion in late September, The association
was formed in 1934, with membership inelud-
ing veterans of the 32d Volunteer Infantry
Regiment and widows of deceased veterans. The
regiment was mobilized and trained at Fort
Leavenworth in the summer of 1899, and de-
parted some 1,300 strong that fall for service
in the Philippines during the Spanish-American
War. The small group of members were wel-
comed to the Post by General Zierath and
vigited the area south of Merritt Lake where
a stone marker and bronze tablet mark the loca-
tion of their old encampment. A brief memorial
gervice for the veterans who had died during
the year was held by Chaplain (Lt Col) Wil-
liam B. Sharp at the Post Chapel. A luncheon
in the Consolidated Troop Mess concluded the
visit, at which time C. H. Rhoades of Leaven-

-worth, Kansas, was nominated president of
the association for the coming year.

One of the major events of the year—at least,
in the minds of the smaller members of the Post
community—ig the annual Halloween program.
The arrangements for 1958 included a Saturday
morning parade for all the lively little spooks,
with marching music provided by the Army
Band and a detachment of ROTC cadets from
Leavenworth High School. The parade, as al-
ways, was a sight to hehold, Members of the
Fort Leavenworth Hunt led their mounts over
the route while wagons from the Post Museum
collection bulged at the seams with costumed
children. That night a mammeoth carnival was
staged at the Sherman Army Airfield hangars
with displays, games of skill and chance, and
refreshment stands attracting nearly every
child on the DPost. Parents armed with
purchased scrip handled the financial arrange-
ments for a night of merriment. All the profits
were given to the Post Activities Fund.

Col Francis A. Liwski arrived on Post in

October to fill the position of Deputy Post
Commander which had been vacated by the
departure of Colonel Culp for the Army Com-
mand Management School the previous August.
Colonel Liwski occupied this position until his
retirement at the Post nearly 4 years later.

Ag the 1958 holiday season approached, Fort
Leavenworth took on a festive appearance. The
public was invited to tour the Post and observe
the striking results of this effort. Many out-
door trees were brilliantly lighted, as were
numerous buildings along the main thorough-
fares. A huge replica of Santa perched atop a
“moon rocket” was in place over the Army
Field Printing Plant to capture the spirit of
Christmas in a manner which also recognized
the interest of the time in our national space.
program. The feature atfraction was the ex-
terior of Bell Hall where the age-old “Merry
Christmas and Happy New Year” greeting was
apelled out in a blacklite display, and where
six beautifully decorated trees were illuminated
by changing lighting effects.

The new $5 million academic building of the
Command and General Staff College, congidered
to be the most modern educational plant west of
the Mississippi River, was officially dedicated
as J. Franklin Bell Hall on 14 January 1959.
Approximately 1,400 guests assembled in the
building’s main auditorium as the Homnorable
Wilbur M. Brucker, Secretary of the Army,

‘delivered the principal address of the day fol-

lowing an introductory speech by General Mec-
Garr. Virtually all of the College facilities were
under one roof for the first time since 1881.
Students and instructors were moved into the
fully equipped classrooms from previous loca-
tions in Gruber, Muir, and Andrews Halls
which originally had been constructed as a
riding hall, stable, and gymnasium, respec-
tively.

The Post lost the services of a well-known
figure when Bob Baker retired in March 1959.
The 78-year old barber began the practice of his
profession at the forerunner of the Command
and General Staff College in 1910, and his shop
had long been a favorite gathering place for
faculty members and student officers. Many of
his patrons will recall Mr, Baker holding forth
in his Grant Hall establishment, with diplomas
on the wall attesting to his “graduation” from
various courses of the College, as he recounted
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tales of his assoelations with famous Army
leaders in the past. He was an avid skeet
shooter and had donated the Bob Baker Trophy
to the Post Skeet Club in 1957. This trophy is
competed for annually, with the stipulation that
it will always remain at Fort Leavenworth.

The collection of the Fort Leavenworth
Museum was moved from a remote area of the
Post to its present location in Andrews Hall
shortly after that building was vacated by the
College. Under the able direction of Misg Mil-
dred Cox then, as now, the Museum Curator,
the relocation of this popular tourist attrac-
tion was quickly accomplished. The newly oc-
cupied building permitted the expansion of
historical exhibits planned by Miss Cox, the
Post Historical Committee, and the museum
Board of Counselors. The museum was formally
opened in May, and a tremendous increase in
“business” ensued as over 12,000 visitors
viewed the digplays within the first 3 months.

Numerous visitors, three separate class
gradiations in one day, Armed Forces and
Frontier Day celebrations, and a Combined
Arms and Services Conference resulted in a
very busy month for Fort Leavenworth in
May 1959, As on many similar occasions in
the past, the Post was equal to the task. The
Frontier Day celebration deserves further men-
tion since it was conducted simultaneously with
the yearly Armed Forces Day events and set a
precedent for the next several years. Plans for
this combined celebration on 16 May were a
joint City-Post venture. An open house was
held at the Post that Saturday morning which,
along with the many permanent items of his-
torical interest and the newly reopened Mu-
seum, permitted the general public te visit
Bell Hall and view the academic facilities of
the College for the first time. That evening
Frontier Day events were staged at Sherman
Army Airfield. The field and hangars were
decorated with relics of the past as thousands
of people, young and old, relived the early days
when the Post had been a staging area for the
long treks West over the Santa Fe and Oregon
Trails. A chuck-wagon dinner, a pioneer cos-
tume contest, games for the children, and an
old-time family-style dance climaxed the mem-
orable day.

The Post housing picture was considerably
brightened in the late summer of 1959 when
over 100 Regular Course student families were

~able to occupy quarters in the second of the

Capehart construction projects. All the quar-
ters had not been completed when the class
reported to Fort Leavenworth, however, and
an emergency project labeled “Operation Wel-
come Hand” was initiated to ease the gitua-
tion. A temporary housing office manned by
Post personnel at the Leavenworth Chamber
of Commerce received more than 40 offers
from Leavenworth families willing to share
their homes with an incoming Army family.
These initial difficulties were overcome with the
rapid completion of the remaining quarters in
the area named “Kansa Village” for an early
Indian tribe of the Missouri Territory. Trues-
dell Hall, with quarters for 90 bachelor of-
ficers and a modern 350-man student officers
field ration mess, also was completed in August,
Located at the intersection of Grant and Stim-
son Avenues, the building was named after
the late Maj Gen Karl Truesdell, Commandant
of the Command and General Staff School, dur-
ing World War IL.

U8 Army Photo
" Kansa Village dependent housing area

THE YEARS 1960-63

The International Group of the Fort Leav-
enworth Officers’ Wives Club sponsored an
event in January 1960 that proved so success-
ful it became another Post tradition. The
event, an International Exposition, which de-
picted the cultures and customs of the 43 coun-
tries represented by Allied student officers then
attending the Command and General Staff Col-
lege, was held for 2 days at the Officers’ Open
Mess. The Allied students and their families
prepared national exhibits with materials from
their native lands. They were assisted by their
respective embassies in the United States.
The exhibits included products of culture, in-
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dustry, and history arranged in an attractive
display for each country. Uniformed Allied of-
ficers and members of their families attired in
native dress presented a colorful sight as they
greeted the general public and explained the
various exhibits. Mrs. Leo J. Nawn supervised
the arrangements for the exposition which was
acclaimed as one of the most educationally en-
joyable activities ever conducted at Fort Leav-
enworth.

General Zierath was honored at a farewell
reception upon his departure in January from
the position of Assistant Commandant for a
new assignment ag Chief of Staff of the Alas-
kan Command. Not long after, invitations were
extended to the permanently assigned officers
of the Post and their wives for a reception
marking the arrival of the new Assistant Com-
mandant, Brig Gen William A. Cunningham,
II1, and Mrs. Cunningham.

General McGarr’s appointment calendar for
July 1960 was marked with the dates of many
farewell formations scheduled prior to his de-
parture after 4 years of what had been orig-
inally intended as a 2-year tour of duty. His
next assignment was Chief of the Military As-
gistance Advisory Group on the far side of the
world in a country with which many other
personnel of the US Army would soon be-
come intimately familiar—the Republic of
Vietnam. A reception honoring General and
Mrs. McGarr given by the Leavenworth Cham-
ber of Commerce wag followed by another
at the Post. On July 29, General Mec-
Garr formally relinquished command at Fort
Leavenworth at retreat ceremonies in front of
Bell Hall. General and Mrs. McGarr departed
the Commandant’s quarters at Number 1 Scott
Avenue on 4 August, The strains of “Auld Lang

Syne” were provided in the background by a

military band as the couple drove off through a
gathering of military personnel of the Post
and their dependents wishing them bon voyage.

General Cunningham served ag Acting Com-
mandant until the arrival of Maj Gen Harold K.
Johnson in mid-August from Germany where
the general was Chief of Staff of the NATO
Central Army Group. General Johnson had
first been assigned to Fort Leavenworth after
his release as a war prisoner of the Japanese.
He graduated from the College in 1947 after

which he served as a faculty member for several
years.

November 1960 will be remembered as the
month in which John F. Kennedy was elected

US Army Phote
Maj Gen Harold K. Johnson

the 35th President of the United States. The
exciting presidential campaign which featured
the televised Kennedy-Nixon debates was a
constant topic of discussion throughout the
Poat as it absorbed the attention of the Nation.
Another topic of conversation at the time
among military personnel was the announced
curtailment of dependent travel to oversea
areas.

"The first housing area specifically designated
for Post enlisted personnel since 1908 was
completed as 1960 drew to a close. This, the
third Post Capehart housing project, and the
last such project to be completed to date, con-
tains 100 duplex, two-story buildings in an
area to both sides of Biddle Boulevard near
the southern boundary of the military reserva-

tion. The first 20 families completed their move

into the project, named Santa Fe Village, in
time to greet the New Year in new quarters.

An early visitor to the Post in 1961 was
former President Harry S Truman who ad-
dressed the students and faculty of the Com-
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mand and General Staff College in January. Mr.
Truman has since become a frequent speaker
at Fort Leavenworth, with his presentations
especially noted for candid, forthright, and
humorous responses to queries from the audi-
ence during the concluding question and answer
periods.

May is uswvally a busy month at the Post,
and May 1961 was no exception. Armed Forces
Week was celebrated by another Frontier Day
for which a replica of a pioneer fort, com-
plete with simulated log blockhouses and a
palisade, was constructed at Sherman Army
Airfield. Named “0Old Fort Sunflower,” it was
gaily decorated with blossoms of the Xansas
state flower to provide a setting for the day’s
entertainment. The activities of the week,
which included the fifth annual spring meeting
of the Henry Leavenworth Chapter of the As-
sociation of the United States Army (AUSA),
featured sky-diving exhibitions by a team of
parachutists from the Tth Special Forces from
Fort Bragg, North Carolina. This crowd pleas-
ing program of “spot” jumping, mid-air baton
passing, and free-fall aerobatics was followed
by a tactical jump by two speecial forces de-
tachments from US Air Force C-123 aircraft.

An impressively large number of general of-
ficers converged on Fort Leavenworth on 28
May for a special 1-day conference devoted to
National Guard affairs. The 46 senior officers
attending this meeting, plus those enrolled in
various courses of the College, created a total
temporary population of 112 US Army gen-
erals—a formidable concentration of “stars”
by any standards. :

The largest horge show in the history of the
Fort Leavenworth Hunt up to that time took
place 27-28 May 1961 with L.t Col Floyd W.
Townsley, President of the Hunt, carrying off
top honors in the final open jumping event.
General Johnson was on hand to present rib-
bons and trophies to the winners among the
468 entrants and 105 horses that were shown.

A different type of presentation was made by
General Johnson in July when he pinned the
second stars on the shoulders of the Assistant
Commandant, General Cunningham. The promo-
tion to major general resulted in a shortened
tour of duty at Fort Leavenworth, as General
Cunningham departed for a new assignment in
Germany.

Moving on a permanent change of station

was merely routine for Brig Gen Harry J.
Lemley, the new Agsistant Commandant, who
arrived with his wife, two daughters, and son
in August 1961. The Lemleys, who had moved
their household five times in connection with
their recently completed tour in Germany, were
to find an unaccustomed degree of stabilization
at Fort Leavenworth where General Lemley
is presently the Commanding General and
Commandant of the Command and General
Staff College.

The creeping spread of international com-
munism in 1961 prompted the Henry Leaven-
worth Chapter of the AUSA to conduct a
guest speaker program to further the security
of the Nation and to accent the vital role of the
US Army as an instrument of national secu-
rity. Because of this very effective program,
the chapter received the AUSA award for the
best single promotional project among the as-
sociation’s chapters throughout the world. The
award-winning program employed seven au-
thoritative speakers, all members of the staff
and faculty or students of the College, to alert
citizens of northwestern Missouri, northeastern
Kansas, and the communities in the Kangsas
City area to communism’s methods and dan-
gerg. Some 75 presentations were given to meet-
ings of adult civie, business, and professional
groups, with an estimated total attendance of
6,300 persons.

On 26 September 1961, Fort Leavenworth
reccived a certificate, signed by Secretary of
the Interior Stewart L. Udall, which officially
designated the Post a “Registered National
Landmark.” The application for this designa-
tion was submitted by the Secretary of the
Army in recognition of the historical signifi-
cance attained by Fort Leavenworth since its
establishment. A bronze plague commemorat-
ing this designation was prepared and dedi-
cated the following Armed Forces Day, when it
was emplaced in front of the Post Museum.

An eagerly awaited event, held every 2 years
at the Post, is the Mardi Gras Ball. The highly
popular event is sponsored by the Daughters
of the US Army for the benefit of the hospital
emergency fund. Proceeds from the March 1962
Mardi Gras also provided for a newly estab-
lished scholarship fund for high school seniors
at Fort Leavenworth. Co-chairmen for the cos-
tume ball were Mesdames Albert L. Kotzebue
and Dandridge F. Hering. The main ballroom
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of the Officers’” Open Mess was transformed into
a resemblance of the French Quarter in New
Orleans, with facsimiles of the French Market,
the Old Absinthe House, and the Gem Bar
realistically portrayed and stocked to satisfy
the inner needs of the more than 1,200 attend-
ing revelers. Mrs. Lewis A. Pick, wife of a
student at the College, reigned as Queen of the
Ball while the elected King, habitually selected
by the students from among the College instrue-
tors, was Lt Col Guy G. McConnell.

Currency was converted to party money for
wagering at the many games of chance that
were organized and supervised by Dr. Ivan J.
Birrer, the College Educational Advisor. Party
money was also exchanged at a brisk rate at
the numerous concessions doing a land-office
buginess in costumed dolls, candies, balloons,
flowers, and comical souvenir photos. Circulat-
ing shrimp and oyster bars, as well as attrac-
tive roving flower girls with large baskets of
pink and red carnation corsages, sped the
flow of dollars for the cause. Maj Albert L.
Kotzebue was master of ceremonies during
the Queen’s coronation and the following pro-
gram of entertainment. First prize for the most
humorous costume was awarded to a student
portraying a doomsday prophet and carrying
a sign “Are you ready for the end?’ making
unmistakable reference to the clogse of the Col-
lege course. Two can-can chorus lines headlined
the program. The first, composed of well-re-
hearsed ladies of the Post, performed in a
manner worthy of the Follies Bergere. The
other, made up of male members, ran through
a routine with a lesser degree.of professional
competence but considerably more hilarity. The
fun-filled evening successfully provided a note-
worthy social event for the year and a source
of revenue for a deserving cause.

General Lemley, in the spring of 1962,
visited Vietnam to view at first hand the coun-
terinsurgency operations in that-country by
the South Vietnamese forces and their Ameri-
can advisors., Shortly after his return, he pre-
gsented a resumé of his observations at the an-
nual meeting of the Henry Leavenworth Chap-
ter of the AUSA. In his closing remarks follow-
ing a concise description of the situation, Gen-
eral Lemley reiterated his belief that the strug-
gle in South Vietnam is waged against a strong
and determined enemy by capable and dedicated
people whose freedom must be preserved.

Two weeks of top-level discussions on ways
to improve the combat effectiveness of the US
Army took place at the Post in June 1962
under the sponsorship of the US Continental
Army Command. Over 75 general officers at-
tended this, the second, Worldwide Combat
Arms Conference, with Under Secretary of
the Army Stephen Ailes heading the list of ap-
proximately 300 distinguished visitors. General
Johnson served ag overall coordinator for the
conferences which were conducted in Bell Hall.

On 1 July 1962 a new combat developments
agency came into being at Fort Leavenworth.
Designated the Combined Arms Group (CAG),
it is an integral part of the US Army Combat
Developments Command established in the
major reorganization of the Department of
the Army. General Johnson, in addition to his
duties as Commanding General of Fort Leav-
enworth, and Commandant of the Command
and General Staff College, assumed a third
position as Commanding General of CAG.
Along with combat developments elements lo-
cated with several of the Army service schoolg,
CAG directs the activities of a Combined Arms
Agency (CARMSA) formed at the same time
from the doctrinal elements of the College in-
structional departments. Col Robert C. Works
was named Deputy Commander of the Com-
bined Arms Group, and Col Robert H. Deason
was appointed Commanding Officer of the Com-
bined Arms Agency.

Each summer the Post has been a temporary
home for groups of high school ROTC students.
Two groups of 100 cadets each were trained
in a typical encampment in July 1962 in the
charge of the Kansag City ROTC detachment.
The boys, coming from Leavenworth, Kansas
City, Independence, and St. Joseph, follow a
gtrict training schedule beginning each morn-
ing with a reveille formation at 0500. Squad
tactics and similar field problems take up much
of the training week which is concluded after
the young prospective officers take to the rifle
range to fire the weapons they have carried in
drill during the past school year. By the time
the last camp formation is dismissed, the boys
have gained a new confidence in themselves,
have perhaps lost a few excess pounds and de-
veloped a few unfamiliar muscles, have gained
an appreciation of Army field duty, and have
a respect for Fort Leavenworth’s mosquito,
chigger, and tick inhabitants as well.
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Colonel Liwski closed a 30-year military
career and a 4-year tour of duty as Chief of
Staff at a retirement ceremony in Bell Hall at
the end of July 1962. He was succeeded by Col
Robert C. Erlenbusch who previously had been
the Post G4. Colonel Erlenbusch wag still serv-
ing in this position at the end of 1963.

Several of the more adventurous military
personnel at the Post obtained official Army
sanction for a Fort Leavenworth Sport Para-
chute Club in October 1962. The 27 charter
members elected Col Joseph B. Seay, at that
time the Post G4, as the first club president.
Colonel Seay put his previous parachuting
experience, which began with a jump over
New Guinea in 1943, to good use in quickly
establishing the selection and training criteria
for the free-falling membership of the new club.
All joining members are required to complete
a stringent courge of prejump training, make
five closely supervised static-line jumps, and at
least three more static-line jumps employing
the use of a dummy ripcord before they are
permitted to make their first actual free-fall
jump.

Several statistics compiled for the year 1962
serve to provide an ingight into the gize and
scope of the Post operation. Over 8,500 students
were graduated from courses of the Command
and General Staff College while some 26,000
officers were enrolled in nonresident extension
courses. The sum of $36 million was spent dur-
ing the year for salaries, supplies, and services.
The monetary value of the physical facilities
at Fort Leavenworth was appraised at $73 mil-
lion. The local AUSA chapter, selected that
year as the best overall chapter in the world,
announced a membership of 2,015. The Post
oversubscribed its established United Fund
drive goal by 133 percent when a total of cver
$37,000 was pledged. Not least significant by
any means, 310 babies were born in 1962 at
the Munson Army Hospital.

New Year’s Day, 1963, was the promotion
date for General Lemiey to the two-star rank
of major general. The next month saw General
Johnson leaving the Post for duty in Office of
the Deputy Chief of Staff for Military Opera-
tions. General Lemley became the second Com-
mandant in history to move up from the As-
sistant Commandant’s position to the command
of Fort Leavenworth.

In assuming the threefold responsibilities of

his new position, General Lemley is in the
unique position of reporting to three superior
officers. They are the Commanding Generals of
the US Continental Army Command, the Fifth
US Army, and the US Army Combat Develop-
ments Command., As Post Commander, he
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Maj Gen Harry J. Lemley, Jr.

gerves as chief administrator for a complex
multimillion dollar operation, and attends a
wide variety of boards and committees. As
the head of Fort Leavenworth’s first family,
he and his wife are expected to attend countless
social functions in the furtherance of military
and civie relations. These functions are not
permitted to interfere with official duties, but
they demandingly restrict the time that the
general may devote to normal family life.
General Lemley travels extensively, for the
most part to supervise the activities of the Com-
bined Arms Group with its 10 subordinate
agencies spread from Virginia to Arizona. He
greets nearly every official visitor to the Post,
and hosts a great number of them in his
quarters at No. 1 Scott Avenue. In 1962, over
3,300 visitors were entertained: in the Com-
mandant’s home. During an average work
week in excegs of 50 office hours, the general
reads and signs hundreds of papers requiring
his attention each day, and somehow finds time
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to personally conduct a multitude of promotion
and awards ceremonies for the thousands of
personnel under his command.

An atmosphere of tense expectation built
up in the first weeks of March 1963 as the
day approached for the arrival of a feam of
officers from the Pentagon. The team, from the
Officer Personnel Directorate, arrives at this
" time each year to announce the future assign-
ments of the student officers attending the

U8 Army Photo
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Command and General Staff Officer Course.
The Post. wag the scene of hectic activity im-
mediately after the announcements were made
as officers and their wives spread the news and
compared locations for their next duty stations.
The chief operator at the Post switchboard has
learned from long experience that extra help
is required that evening to handle the hundreds
of long-distance calls placed by the student
families to relatives and friends.

Many officers of the College staff and faculty
and the Post garrison, in addition to the stu-
dents, were making movement plans about this
same time. The avérage tour of duty for per-
manently assigned officers al Fort Leavenworth
i 3 years, with about one-third of them depart-
ing and arriving during the summer months.
The new Assistant Commandant, Col Elias C.
Townsend, arrived for duty in April from an
asgsignment as Assistant Chief of Staff, G3,
with the Second US Army. Colonel Townsend,
an instructor at the College in 1946-48, was
promoted to brigadier general in August.

Physical fitness was a current topic in the
spring of 1968 when the Army Physical Combat

Proficiency Test wag scheduled for the first
time for all male soldiers under 40 years of
age. Those who wisely prepared for the test
by practice at the course set up in the Bluntville
Bowl area found significant differences between
the new requirements and the old Physical
Fitness Test. When the final results were posted
after more than 1,000 men had been tested,
top honors went to the assistant Protestant
chaplain of the Post, Chaplain {Capt) Wayne G.
Shelton. In an almost perfect performance in
the five-event test, the 34-year old chaplain
scored 498 out of a possible 500 points, leav-
ing a mark for combat arms officers to strive
for in the future.

The Post detachment of the Women’s Army
Corps, commanded by Capt Margaret Clifford,
celebrated the 21st anniversary of their corps
in May 1963. Arrangements for their birthday
party were made by those detachment members
soon to be retired after 20 or more years of
service. One of the first WAC detachments to
be authorized; it arrived at Fort Leavenworth
in 1943 and was expanded to nearly 800 mem-
hers during World War I1. There are presently
71 enlisted women and 6 WACQC officers serving
at the Post in assignments to the Munson Army
Hospital, Midwest Relay Station, the dental
clinie, library, and other Post and College activi-
ties.

Another unit of the garrison deserving men-
tion is the 371st Army Band which has provided
a variety of music at the Post since 1947. The
band has averaged over 50 performances a
month, playing receptions, sports events, nu-
merous other military and religious activities,
in addition to filling a schedule of outdoor
morning concerts on summer weekends., The
Band has also performed in Leavenworth,
traveled to many surrounding communities to
play for civic functions, and provided stage
music for the Post Dramatics Club.

Work began in November 1963 for the re-
moval of a familiar Post landmark. The old
Fort bridge, which was constructed in 1872 and
subsequently carried the traffic of Highway 92
across the Missouri River, had been cloged since
the Leavenworth Centennial Bridge was com-
pleted in 1955. Now considered a menace to
navigation on the river, it was scheduled for
demolition. During the process, the wooden
flooring of the bridge accidentally caught fire
in a rather spectacular fashion as flames en-

—_22



gulfed the complete length of the span. Fire-
men stood by in frustration without practical
means to extinguish the blaze until a barge
with fire-fighting equipment aboard was
brought upstream. After several days the last
embers ceased smoldering, the onlookers in
Bell Hall turned away from their windows and
redirected their attention to office chores, and
workmen again began to dismantie the metal
structure.

The awful news of the assassination of Presi-
dent John F. Kennedy on the 22d day of Novem-
ber was received with shocked incredulity at
Fort Leavenworth, as it was all over the world.
While confirmatory reports were announced,
and the aftermath of events was televised from
Dallas, realization of the actual loss suffered by
the Nation took effect. Instructions were issued,
as the Post flag was lowered to half-staff, for

all assigned officers to assemble in the audito-
rium of Bell Hall the following morning where
General Lemley performed the sad duty of
reading the official notification of the Presi-
dent’s death from the Secretary of Defense.

The usually gay Post holiday season passed
against a subdued, somber background as
scheduled celebrations were cancelled, and a
sense of deep personal loss remained the pre-
dominant emotion in the hearts of all Ameri-
cans. The year 1963 came to an end not long
after the flag was once more flying at full-staff
to mark the end of the period of national
mourning. Personnel at the Post prepared to
enter the coming year experiencing, with their
fellow countrymen everywhere, a spirit of re-
dedication to the ideals so often clearly ex-
pressed by the late 35th President of the United
States.
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CHAPTER il
POST UNITS AND ORGANIZATIONS

It is widely known that Fort Leavenworth
is the home of the U. 8. Army Command and
General Staff College, and it is true that the
College iz the major military activity located
at Fort Leavenworth. It is less generally known
that Fort Leavenworth is the home of several
other diversified cperations of a unique and im-
portant nature, This chapter discusses the more
prominent of these operations.

THE COMBINED ARMS GROUP
The newest among the agencies at Fort Leav-
enworth came into existence as a result of a
study directed by the Honorable Robert S.

McNamara, Secretary of Defense, in February
1961. A study was made of the Department of
the Army functions, organizations, and pro-
cedures in the light of current and projected
trends, and resulted in the reorganization of
the Army in 1962. In January 1962, the Com-
mand and General Staff College began studies
to determine how this Army reorganization
would affect the College and the other service
schools of the combat arms. These studies con-
cluded that the Departments of Doctrine and
Combat Developments of the College should be
deactivated, Further, it was decided that the
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personnel from these departments should form

the nucleus of two new organizations to be

located at the Post; the US Army Combined

Arms Group and the US Army Combined Arms
Combat Developments Agency. These study

conelusions were approved and implemented.

Orders from the US Army Combat Develop-
ments Command at Fort Belvoir, Virginia,
established the Combined Arms Group (CAG)
at Fort Leavenworth as a subordinate element

effective 1 July 1962 Maj Gen Harold K.
Johnson assumed command on that date. Sub-
sequent orders organized and assigned the fol-
lowing combat developments agencies to the
CAG from existing activities at the military
ingtallations indicated: Air Defense at Fort
Bligs, Texas; Armor at Fort Knox, Kentucky;
Artillery at Fort Sill, Oklahoma; Aviation at
Fort Rucker, Alabama ; CBR at Fort MeClellan,
Alabams; Engineer at Fort Belvoir; Infantry
at Fort Benning, Georgia; Intelligence at Fort
Holabird, Maryland; Communications-Elec-
tronics at Fort Huachuca, Arizona; and Com-
bined Arms located at Fort Leavenworth, Kan-
sas, with the headquarters element.” These far-
flung agencies, composed of nearly 1,100 per-
sonnel, immediately began operations under the
central direction of the CAG.

- The mission of the CAG, as set forth in the
Aectivation Plan, is to formulate and document
current doctrine for the Army; to anticipate
the nature of land warfare in the future; to
determine the types of forces and material
needed in the future; and to determine how
these forces and material should be employed.
This formal mission statement was in agree-
ment with the thoughts of It Gen John F.
Daley, the first Commanding General of the
Combat Developments Command, who felt that
his command should supply answers to the
questions: “HOW SOULD THE ARMY BE
ORGANIZED? HOW SHOULD THE ARMY

"FIGHT?””

A formal ceremony was held on the con-

course in front of Grant Hall on 2 July 1962
to dedicate the two new organizations at the

' General Orders No. 5, Headquarters, US Army
Combat Developments Command, Fort Belvoir, Vir-
ginia, 21 June 1962.

? General Orders No. 9, Headquarters, US Army
Combat Developments Command, Fort Belvoir, Vir-
ginia, 30 June 1962.

Post. The CAG occupied office and work space
in the Grant-Sherman Hall facilities. The Com-
bined Arms Agency (CARMSA) moved into
areas on the third floor of Bell Hall which af-
forded its members ready access to the refer-
ence material of the College Library.

The Headquarters of the CAG, in addition
to an administrative element, is organized in
three divisions. A Plans and Programs Division
monitors the b-year programs for combat de-
velopment, and the worldwide programs of
troop testing new doctrine and organizations.
An Organization and Doctrine Division super-
vises the preparation of studies dealing with
operational and organizational concepts and
materiel objectives. This supervision includes
the preparation of doctrinal field manuals and
tables of organization and equipment. The
evaluation of materiel requirements for com-
bat and combat support eclements, and the
monitoring of various materiel test and evalua-
tion programs are accomplished by the Materiel
Division. Accomplishments of the CAG in the
first year and a half of its existence have been
the monitoring and supervision of subordinate
agencies which resulted in the preparation of
over 160 doctrinal studies and publications,
some 40 tables of organization and equipment
and more than 150 materiel or development
requirements and objectives.

Col Wilson M. Hawkins assumed the posi-
tion of CAG Deputy Commander on 15 June
1963 from the first officer appointed to direct
the affairs of that organization within the
Commanding General’s policy guidance, Col
Robert C. Works. The Combined Arms Group
and the Command and General Staff College
today enjoy a mutually beneficial relationship
enhanced by their physieal proximity and their
operation under the command of a single in-
dividual, the Commanding General of Fort
Leavenworth, Close cooperation between the
two has increased the fund of taetical knowl-
edge available to the CAG for developing doc-
trine, and the ability of the College to agsimilate
approved doctrine into its tactical teachings.

THE US DISCIPLINARY BARRACKS

For nearly 90 years, the facilities of the US
Disciplinary Barracks have housed men who
have failed in some respect to adjust to society
or their military environment. The history of
the USDB goes back to 21 May 1874 when an
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amendment to a previous act of Congress
changed the location of a military prison from
Rock Island Arsenal, Illinois, to Fort Leaven-
worth. From that time, the programs of the
USDB have evolved slowly in keeping with the
changes now apparent in modern penclogy.
New theories and practices have been tried
and tested ; some discarded and others adopted.
" Today the USDB, which serves both the Army
and the Air Foree, is a community unique
within the larger community of Fort Leaven-
worth. Aectivities conducted at the USDE re-
fleet the progressive approaca of both Services
toward the reeducation of the inmates. The
atmosphere is corrective rather than punitive.
Although their freedom is restricted, the pris-
oners carry on many of the activities of normal
society.

From the day a prisoner arrives until the
day he leaves, he is involved in a program aimed
at determining the basic cause of punishable
behavior, and preparing him to assume a re-
sponsible role in society upon his release from
confinement. Should a prisoner need psychiatric
counseling, additional educational opportuni-
ties, vocational training, the experience of
supervised group living, recreational opportuni-
ties, or religious training, these requirements
can be met within the overall program. To ful-
fill these requirements, almost half of the as-
signed staff of the USDB congists of psychia-
trists, psychologists, social workers, teachers,
counselors, work supervisors, athletic super-
visors, library workers, classification experts,
and lawyers. Col Weldon W. Cox, Commandant
of the USDB from 1959-63, often remarked,
“What a prisoner accomplishes while inside the
walls ig partly his responsibility—the institu-
tion helps him to help himself.”

Motion pictures are shown on weekends and
holidays, and a hobby shop provides a means
for construetive relaxation. The USDB also has
a well-equipped gymnagium. During the sum-
mer, baseball and softhall leagues are organ-
ized: while in the winter months, football and
basketball are the major atheltic events. Vol-
ley ball, wrestling, boxing, weight-lifting, and
trampoline exercises round out the extensive
gports program.

Since the. first classes were begun in 1888,
education has been a main feature of the USDB
program. During the 1963 fiscal year, 256 pris-
oners successfully completed high school gen-

eral educational development tests, and 44 com-
pleted the same tests on a college level. In ad-
dition, 156 men -completed formal classroom
study for high school, 48 completed group study
clagses or correspondence courses at the high
school level, and 492 completed similar work
at the college level.

Since 1960, an Associate in Arts degree in
the junior college program has been avail-
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able through a joint effiort by the USDB and
the Junior College of Highland, Kansas.

Closely related to the educational program is
a vocational training program. A major im-
provement to this program has been the recent
completion, by prisoner labor, of a meodern
vocational industries building within the walls
of the USDB Main Unit. The first major build-
ing project for the USDB since 1930, this struc-
ture provides training facilities for the devel-
opment of skills in tailoring, electrical work,
photography, sheet metal work, printing, and
upholstery. On-the-job training is offered in
guch fields as dry cleaning, laundry operation,
plumbing, cooking, carpentry, barbering, and
automobile repair. Vocational skills acquired
by the prisoners in many of the fields are put
to use to reduce the operational costs of the
USDB, as well as to provide a source of prison
revenue by offering commercial-type services
to the personnel of Fort Leavenworth.

A major subsidiary of the USDB is the Farm
Colony and Greenhouse. Prisoners agsigned to
agricultural work raise hogs, beef cattle, and
poultry and cultivate several hundred acres of
land with erops of corn, milo, alfalfa, and oats,
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The Farm Colony consists of more than 600
acres in an area northwest of the prison’s
Main Unit. Located between the Farm Colony
and the USDB ig the prison greenhouse, re-
portedly the largest in the State of Kansas. The
gale of plants and flowers, as well as farm pro-
duce to residents of Fort Leavenworth and
other authorized personnel, also provides a con-
siderable amount of revenue to the USDB Vo-
cational Training Fund.

Minimum custody prisoners are quartered
at the Farm Colony and at the Local Parolee
Unit, These men move from their quarters to
their jobs without direct supervision, and many
of their duties are accomplished away from the
prison in various areas of the Post.

For those prisoners due to return to civilian
life, a prerelease counseling program provides
instruction concerning job applications, civilian
legal problems, parole supervision, travel pay,
family adjustment problems, and many other
related matters. Men selected to return to mili-
tary duty undergo an additional training pro-
gram.- Those who return to the Army are re-
trained in basic soldiering duties by the Mili-
tary Training Branch of the First Guard Com-
pany, and Air Force personnel are sent to an
Air Force unit that has been organized for a
gimilar purpose.

Both Army and Air Force officers are as-
gigned to the USDB. Their training and ex-
perience include special penological school-
ing at the baccalaureate, master, and doctorate
levels. More than 450 enlisted men perform
duties at the USDB. These assigned personnel,
with a representation of combat veterans as
well as college graduates and technicians and
a broad range of training and background, are
asgigned to the First Guard Company cur-
rently commanded by Maj Lawrence E. Person.
They are trained cooks and guards, specialists
in psychological testing and social case work,
administrative specialists, and engineering
supervisors.

A third group of specialists are the civilians
employed at the USDB by the Department of
the Army. They include men and women with
special skills and training in correctional work.
Such trades as shoe repair, upholstering, and
barbering are taught to prisoners under the
direction of both civilian and military person-
nel.

Rehabilitating men who have failed in the

military service iz a specialized mission and
far from an easy assignment. For the recently
aggigned Commandant, Col E. L, Slobe, and his
gtaff, the search for better ways to help men
at the US Disciplinary Barracks will remain
their first objective.

MUNSON ARMY HOSPITAL

A major step forward in the continuing pro-
gram of health and welfare at Fort Leaven-
worth was taken in April 1958 when ground
was broken for a new military hospital. Con-
struction of the $3 million building was based
upon plans made available by the US Air Forece.
While this construction was taking place, medi-
cal service was provided from the building
complex on Thomas Avenue where it had been
located since 1902. Col Joseph T. Caples, Com-
mander of the Hospital and Post Surgeon, was
busy at the time as he directed the many rou-
tine hospital activities while taking an active
supervigory interest in the new building.

Colonel Caples was known as the uncfficial
historian of Fort Leavenworth because of his
interest in the local area and his extraordinary
familiarity with Fort Leavenworth in the past.
The Colonel had lived at the Post four times
previous to his current assignment; first with
his father who was stationed here in 1909, a
second time while his father took part in the
Mexican Campaign in 1916-17, a third time
when his father was a student in the General
Staff School in 1921, and yet again when he
himself was a student in 1942. Colonel Caples’
family history in this location goes back much
farther than that, however. His great-great-
grandfather was the president of the associa-
tion that founded the City of Leavenworth in
1854.

With the completion of construction, the
movement of hospital equipment into the new
facility began in January 1961. One month
later, patients were moved from the old hospital
buildings, and the new health center was in
full operation in its new location by 27 Febru-
ary 1961. The buildings from which the hogpital
was moved serve today to house the Dental
Clinie, offices of the American Red Cross, and
provide billet space for enlisted personnel.

Colonel Caples presided over a program of
formal dedication ceremonies on 29 March 1961
during which the hospital was named in honor
of Brig Gen Edward L. Munson, who had
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served with distinction in the Army from 1893
to 1922. General Munson had been an instruc-
tor in the Army Service Schools, which later
developed into the United States Army Com-
mand and General Staff College, and founded
the Medical Field Services and Correspondence
School at Fort Leavenworth. The scheduled pro-
gram, to which the public was invited, included
s welcome by Maj Gen Harold K. Johnson,
Commanding General of the Post, a dedication
address by Maj Gen Thomas J. Hartford, the
Deputy Surgeon General of the Army, and a
tour through the facilities of the new hospital.

SR 7
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Main entrance to Munson Army Hospital

The fully air-conditioned, three-story hospital
is equipped with the most modern medical
equipment. Presently providing beds for a
maximum of 90 patients, provisions were incor-
porated into the basic design for an expansion
to a 199-bed unit if required. Two floors
of the building contain rooms for pa-
tients. These rooms vary in size from
gingle-bed rooms to those with six beds.
There are three surgical operating rooms, two
delivery rooms, a pharmacy, modern kitchen
and dining areas, and two food service umits
for wards.

Rooms for patients are colorfully decorated
and most have all the comforts of a home bed-
room. Each bed has a two-way communication
gystem to a nursing station, and a pillow

speaker for listening to radio or recorded pro-
grams. Remote controlled television sets are
mounted from the ceilings and connected to the
pillow speaker system. Telephone jacks in-
stalled in each room are provided for the pa-
tients’ convenience. An interesting innovation
is a communications system whereby key hos-
pital personnel can be contacted without dis-
turbing the patients through the use of tran-
sistorized pocket receivers. A Special Services
library, a branch Post Exchange and snack
bar, and a barber shop are also available in
the hospital.

A health center of this type requires a siz-
able and diversified staff, including medical,
surgical, nursing, administrative, and coordi-
nating services. Over 200 personnel are assigned
under the command of Col John H. Taber, who
assumed the duties of Commanding Officer and
Post Surgeon from Colonel Caples in August
1963, to staff and operate the facilities of
Munson Army Hospital. Among these is Colonel
QOliver Buesing, Chief of Surgery, one of the
outstanding surgeon’s in the Army. Many of the
services rendered by the hospital however,
especially in the area of dependent medical
care and preventive medicine, could not be pro-
vided without the wholehearted and enthu-
siastic support of the Red Cross Volunteer
Program by the distaff population of Fort
Leavenworth. These women, working as Gray
Ladies, Staff Aides, Nurses’ Aides, and Regis-
tered Nurses, contribute thousands of hours of
volunteer service to the hospital each year.
Nearly 800 of these women participate an-
nually in the program during peak workload
months.

MIDWEST RELAY STATION

On 12 December 1957, Headquarters, Fifth
US Army, published General Orders Number
145 establishing the US Army Midwest Relay
Center at Fort Leavenworth, Kansas, effective
2 January 1958. Subsequent authority delegated
operational control and the respensibility for
the accomplishment of the Midwest Relay
Center mission to the Commanding General,
Fort Leavenworth.

The history of the Midwest Relay Station
began in December 1952 when a prototype tele-
typewriter system was placed into operation at
Chicago, Illincis. This system was manufac-
tured specifically to test the automatic concept
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and to determine its possibilities for military
application. This early test conclusively dem-
onstrated that this equipment could provide a
much higher and more reliable grade of service
with a considerable gsaving to the Government
in the cost of personnel salaries alone. In very
basie terms, this system converts a message
prepared by the originator into a perforated
paper tape. The tape is then fed through
a transmitter that transforms the printed
words to electrical impulses traveling at the
speed of light to a destination where the im-
pulses are reconverted to a paper or, in some
instances, to a final copy of the message in page
form. The automatic switching components of

the system are set into operation upon receipt -

of the electrical impulses from an incoming
teletypewriter line., From these impulses, the
destination and relative importance of the mes-
sage are determined, and the message ig auto-
matically routed to the destination in accord-
ance with its importance without human as-
sistance or intervention. Messages addressed to
more than one agency or headquarters are re-
produced in the appropriate number of copies
by the equipment and automatically routed to
the proper addressees.

US Army Photo
Fuxterior of the Midwest Relay Stution

With the proven feasibility of fully automatic
switching, the Chief Signal Officer of the Army
determined that it would be far more economi-
cal to operate a few large relay stations, each
gerving large geographical areas, than many
smaller stations to serve gpeecific commands.
This concept represented a major departure
from previous doctrine which normally placed
a commander’s communication facilities di-

rectly under his control. Accordingly, plans
were made for a West Coast Relay Station at
Davis, California; an East Coast Relay Station
at Fort Detrick, Maryland; and a Midwest
Relay Station to be established in the Kansas
—Missouri area. Under this concept, the Mid-
west Relay Station currently is serving Govern-
ment and military activities located throughout
21 states and 4 army areas.

The Fort Leavenworth location was approved
by the Department of the Army and the exact
locations for the main station, receiver station,
and transmitter station were determined prior
to 1956 when the contract was signed for the
construction of the main station building on
Biddle Boulevard. The radio transmitter sta-
tion was located adjacent to Sherman Army
Airfield and its construction began in June
1958. Later that year, construction was begun
on the radio receiver station which was located
at the Sunflower Ordnance Works in Desoto,
Kansas. Additional construction and improve-
ment of the station’s facilities have taken place.

Equipment began arriving from the manu-
facturers in September of 1958 and installa-
tion was completed by October of the following
year. The installation was accomplished by
teams from the Army Signal Engineering
Agency with assistance provided by the per-
sonnel assigned to the station under the com-
mand of Lt Col John A. Anderson. In this
manner, station personnel gained valuable ex-
perience in a phase of the overall training pro-
gram designed to familiarize them with the
equipment they would later operate and main-
tain.

It was realized from the beginning that the
training of personnel was the key to success-
ful operation of the Midwest Relay Station.
This initially presented a serious problem due
to the limited number of personnel having
previous experience with automatic switching
equipment. These personnel were to be found
primarily among those who had been associated
with the prototype test in Chicago, and those
at the relatively new West Coast Relay Sta-
tion. A limited number of the more experienced
individuals were recruited from these installa-
tions. The reguired remainder, both military
and civilian, were selected on the basis of long
experience in the communications field and
familiarity with network operations as they
existed prior to the advent of automatic switch-
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ing. This system of selection proved to be highly
successful and although many of the skilled
military personnel have been transferred from
the station, most of the key civilians originally
recruited are still present. Advantage was taken
of every available training resource. Classes
for switchmen were conducted by the Auto-
matic Eleetric Company at their Chicago fac-
tory. Representatives of the Kleinschmidt Cor-
poration assisted in the training of repairmen
at classes conducted by the Midwest Relay Sta-
tion. Personnel were sent both to Chicago and
the West Coast Relay Station to observe and
become familiar with the operations there. Be-
tween September 1959 and January 1960, 69
individuals were trained in automatic opera-
tions at classes conducted at Fort Leavenworth
in the building now occupied by the Army Na-
tional Bank. It is historically significant to note
that this building had first been used almost
eight decades earlier for the instruction of
student officers in the school that was to de-
velop into the U. 8. Army Command and Gen-
eral Staff College,

The cut-over to live traffic began on 2 January
1960, the second anniversary of the organiza-
tion of the Midwest Relay Station. With the
cut-over, the station began its automatic switch-
ing service on an around the clock basis which
- has continued without interruption until the
present. Credit must be given to the outstand-
ing performance and devotion to duty of the
personnel responsible for the initial organiza-
tion and training which resulted in what the
commander of the Army Communications
Agency described as the most successful cut-
over in network history. '

The formal dedication of the Midwest Relay
Station, then commanded by Lt Col Hanford T.
Colwell, took place on 18 February 1960 with
ceremonies held at the Fort Leavenworth Of-
ficers’ Open Mess and at the main station. Dedi-
cation ribbons at the entrance to the station
were cut by Maj Gen Ralph T. Nelson, Chief
Signal Officer of the Army, and Maj Gen Licnel
C. McGaryr, Commanding General of Fort Leav-
enworth. Guests and visitors present, more than
a hundred in number, included State and loeal
government officials from the surrounding area,
Post staff personnel, representatives of the com-
panies that had manufactured equipment for
the station, and prominent Signal Corps repre-
sentatives from Fifth US Army and the

Washington, D. C. area. The ceremonies were
recorded on film by photographers from the
Army Pictorial Center, and later edited into a
newsreel type pictorial report which is still
available through the Army film library sys-
tem.

The Midwest Relay Station, eurrently com-
manded by Lt Col Gerald C. Von Bargen, has
been designated a class II activity of the Army
Strategic Communications Command. Its mis-
sion is to relay electrical communications and
data for government installation in the central
portion of the United States. As a part of the
World Wide Strategic Army Communications
Network, the station is capable of relaying
messages to and from any installation in any
part of the world in which United States or
Allied forces may be located. It also functions
as an important element of the Defense Com-
munications System and serves as a transfer
point for Army and Ailr Force traffic. In re-
turn for the administrative support it is pro-
vided by Fort Leavenworth, the Midwest Relay
Station also operates and maintains the Post
Communications Center. The station has proc-
essed approximately 27 million messages in its
first 4 years of operation, with over 600,000
messages handled in one month during 1963.

It is anticipated that the station will become
a part of the Global Satellite Communications
System and will continue to expand its services
within its area of operations. In the event of
emergency, the Midwest Relay Station will pro-
vide the Nation with the most modern and ef-
ficient eommunications service available in the
world.

THE AIR DEFENSE BATTERY

The construction of a Nike Hercules de-
fense for the Kansas City area was approved by
the Department of the Army in late 1957. With
Senate approval in May 1958, negotiations
began for the purchage of land and the award
of contracts for the design and construction of
the defense project. The contract for consiruec-
tion was awarded in June 1958 and the notifica-
tion to proceed was issued the following month.
Ground-breaking ceremonies were conducted
at Fort Leavenworth on the future site of the
Delta Battery Headquarters at Pope Avenue
and Biddle Boulevard on 23 July 1958.

Battery D, or Delta Battery, is one of the
four firing units of the 5th Misgile Battalion
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(Nike Hercules), 55th Artillery. The bat-
talion headquarters is located at the Naval Air
Station, Olathe, Kansas.

The ceremonies were sponsored by the Henry
Leavenworth Chapter of the Association of the
United States Army. A powerful Hercules
missile formed a backdrop for the speakers
platform, and the sounds of heavy earthmoving
machinery could be heard as the chaplain of-
fered a prayer for peace. Civilian dignitaries
present for the occasion were headed by Kansas
Governor George Docking. Brig Gen Frederick
Zierath, the Assistant Commandant of the Com-
mand and General Staff College, represented
Fort Leavenworth and delivered the official
welcome to the numerous participants and
guests.

bt
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Headquarters of the Air Defense Buattery

In August 1959, filler personnel began report-
ing to Fort Leavenworth for assignment to
Delta Battery. At the same time, the officers,
key noncommissioned officers, and specialists
of the battery, then commanded by Capt Guy
J. Marzari, reported for “package” training
at the Army Air Defense Center, Fort Bliss,
Texas. This training, which developed indi-
vidual and unit proficiency so necessary for the
successful operation and maintenance of the
Hercules system, was completed in October
and the trained personnel departed for Fort
Leavenworth to join the remainder of Delta
Battery.

By November 1959 sufficient personnel and
equipment had arrived at the battery site to
permit the emplacement of the equipment and
the start of an intensive unit training program.

The battery was declared operational in April
1960. It is interesting to note that the battery
launching area, from which Hercules mis-
siles would be launched, is located on the same
hill where the earthworks of Fort Sully were
constructed during the Civil War for a similar
mission, but against an entirely different type
of threat.

Delta Battery draws on Fort Leavenworth
for logistical support. Battery officers and many
of the enlisted personnel reside on the Post and
participate actively in Post functions. Con-
ducted tours through the battery facilities in
cooperation with Post activities, and demon-
strations with the sentry dogs that guard the
perimeters of sensitive battery installations
have been a source of inferest to many Post
visitors. The battery sponsors annual Christ-
mas and Easter parties for the children of Saint
John’s Orphanage, Kansas City. In addition
to donations from battery personnel toward the
purchase of clothing for the orphans, the days
preceding Christmas each year find the men of
Delta Battery busily engaged during their off-
duty time collecting and repairing toys to be
distributed as gifts to these children. Through
organized efforts such as these, and the promo-
tion of good will by its individual members,
Delta Battery has greatly asgisted Fort Leav-
enworth in maintaining a record of outstand-
ing civic relations.

The battery is tested on the effectiveness of
its training programs by an annual service
practice conducted at the McGregor Firing
Range in New Mexico. This service practice
consists of the actual firing of Nike Her-
cules miggiles at simulated hostile targets
and provides the basis for a thorough evalua-
tion of the battery’s firing operations. The bat-
tery has fired 17 missiles under these condi-
tions thus far with a perfect secore of seventeen
target “kills.” The battery has consistently
been rated ““Superior” on its annual general
inspection. It has never failed successfully to
demongtrate its ability to store, handle, and
prepare for firing the powerful nuclear war-
heads with which its missiles can be armed.
Because of these and other similar achieve-
ments, this unit has been designated the “Out-
standing Battery of the Year” by the 4th
Region, Army Air Defense Command, to which
it is assigned for the 2 years this award has
been in existence.
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The history of Delta Battery, although rela-
tively brief, is a source of pride to the present
battery commander, Capt Milton Welsh, and
the members of his unit. Delta Battery remains
in constant readiness to fulfill its assigned mis-
sion to actively defend the Kansas City area
against aerial attack should the national poliey
of deterrence fail,

SHERMAN ARMY AIRFIELD

The center of air activity for Fort Leaven-
worth and the Command and General Staff
College is Sherman Army Airfield located east
of the US Disciplinary Barracks on the Mis-
souri River flats. The field was egtablished
under the jurisdiction of the Disciplinary Bar-
racks in 1923 by the Army Air Corps. At this
time it was merely a strip 1,800 feet long in a field
of alfalfa and was intended only for emergency
landings. Named in 1936 for Maj William
Sherman, US Air Corps, who had supervised
major improvements of the field, it was then
under the control of the Army Air Corps,
later the US Air Force. The expanding role of
Army aviation resulted in the transfer of the
field to the Army and Fort Leavenworth in
1953.

An important and busy aclivity was incor-
porated with the operation of the field in 1954
when a Tranaportation Corps aircraft main-
tenance and supply detachment was moved
from Fort Riley, Kansas, to Fort Leavenworth,
This relatively small detachment, presently
commanded by Maj Edward F. O’Donnell, sup-
ports Army aircraft, including those of the
Army Reserve and National Guard throughout
11 states in the Fifth US Army area. The de-
tachment operates a U-1A utility aircraft to
fly maintenance personnel and supply parts
wherever needed to accomplish its misgion.

Effective 1 January 1959, a 5-year lease was
granted to the City of Leavenworth permitting
use of the fleld by privately owned aircraft
listed with the Civil Aeronautics Agency and
equipped with two-way radios. The Post Avia-
tion Officer has since been responsible for the
flight pattern and safety of all aireraft within
the control zone of the field.

In 1960, the field was designated a class
A airport—one which averages more than
100 take-offs and landings a day—and began
operations on a 24-hour basis, That same year
a significant improvement of landing surfaces

was completed. The main runway was topped
with asphalt in a strip 5,900 feet long and 100
feet wide. The field drainage system was im-
proved as well as the secondary 5,400 foot
cinder runway.

The Post Army Aviation Detachment, cur-
rently commanded by Maj John P. Westphal,
is now assigned 17 fixed-wing aircraft and 3§
light helicopters. The operations at Sherman
Army Airfield, in addition to providing avia-
tion support to the Post and College, provide
facilities for the maintenance of flying pro-
ficiency by permanently assigned and student
officers. The number of aviators assigned as
students at the College has increased yearly.
Not only are aircraft made available to these
pilots, but their fiight records are maintained
by personnel at the field. The Aviation Division
also operates a Link trainer which simulates
instrument flight for aviators sharpening their
blind flying skills.

THE MUSEUM

There are indications that an attempt was
made as early as 1924 to establish a museum at
Fort Leavenworth to preserve the many his-
torical military relics which were located
throughout the Post. A formal request from
Fort Leavenworth to establish a museum was
approved by the War Department in 1938 and
the Post Museum was established that year.
Originally, the museum was situated in Build-
ing No. 74 which now houses the Army Educa-
tion Center. From the very start, the museum
has maintained a ecollection of period animal-
drawn vehicles that is probably unsurpassed
anywhere in the country. Among these authen-
tic means of transportation of the early West
are stagecoaches, prairie schooners, numerous
horse-drawn buggies and sleighs, and old
Army vehicles of all descriptions. For years
these vehicles were rented for a small fee, and
provided to military and civilian organizations
engaged in activities with an historical theme.
The holdings of the museum were placed in
storage in the fall of 1950 when the museum
wag placed in a standby condition.

Shortly before his departure in 1952, Gen-
eral McBride directed that plans be made to
reactivate the Post Museum. It was reestab-
lished in Building No. 391 and opened with ap-
propriate ceremonies in 1958. The collection
of a small local quartermaster museum was
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consolidated with the existing holdings, and
the museum activity was placed under the of-
fice of the Headquarters Commandant for ad-
ministrative purposes.

In 1955, General Davidson formed an his-
torical committee to study and report upon a
program at the Post which would encourage
public and private support of the museum, and
thus encourage increased understanding and
support of the US Army. The committee recom-
mended the organization of a Post historical
society and a permanent historical committee;
the initiation of plans fo restore and preserve
the numercus available historical gites and
chjects; the acquisition of a civilian museum
curator; and the appointment of a Post his-
torian. The committee’s recommendations were
approved and implemented. A very active his-
torical program was conducted with local and
state historical societies which served to fur-
ther civic relations.

US Army FPhoto
The Post Museum

A civilian curator feor the museum was ap-
proved during the tenure of General McGarr as
Commandant, and Miss Mildred €. Cox was
employed in September 1958. The following
year the museum was relocated in Andrews
Hall with the primary considerations being a
more advantageous gite and an inereased build-
ing capacity. Well over half of the available
floor space is now taken up by exhibits and
digplays, with the remainder used for an audi-
torium, adminigtrative and shop areas, and
storage.’

The mission of the museum was established
in 1960:

The mission of the Fort Leavenworth Mu-

seum is to collect, preserve, and present a

fully adequate graphic artifactual display of

the history of Fort Leavenworth and all mil-

itary facilities located at Fort Leavenworth

(including the United States Army Com-

mand and General Staff College, the United

States Army Hospital, the United States

Army Midwest Relay Station, and the United

States Army Disciplinary Barracks) and to

develop and preserve historical sites and

monuments throughout the military reserva-
tion. The Museum serves as a medium for
fostering knowledge and understanding of
the history, traditions and development of

Fort Leavenworth and its related facilities,

stimulating esprit de corps and improving

public relations.®

A Board of Governors was established for
the museum in 1960 to guide and support the
museum program. The beard also administers
a non-government fund created by donations
from Post activities and organizations, and
those received from the general public. Relics
and other higtorical objects are purchased from
this fund. An unofficial group of cecunselors was
also formed in 1960 to provide Haison with
regional museum activity and gain support for
the Fort Leavenworth Museum. In addition, the
counselors furnish professional advice and as-
sistance to the museum Curator and Board of
Governorg. The counselors represent the De-
partment of the Interior, the Kansas State His-
torical Society, the Harry 8 Truman Library,
and the museum in St, Joseph, Missouri.

Since the relocation of the museum in An-
drewsg Hall, an active plan for expansion of
the collections and exhibits has been in effect.
Until sufficient properties are acquired to meet
the reguirements of this long-range plan, de-
picting the entire span of history for the Fort
Leavenworth area, relics added to the collec-
tion are cased in exhibits of isolated but related
themes. A wide variety of attractive and his-
torically interesting exhibits are displayed for
the many visitors to the museum. Although the
major collection grouping congists of the old
vehicles, the musgeum’s holdings include artil-
lery pieces, uniforms and related military
equipment, Indian artifacts and western pio-
neer relics, and objects from foreign lands
donated by Allied officers. A section of Andrews

? General Order No. 130, Headquarters, Fort Leaven-
worth, Kansas, 11 July 1960.
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Hall is set aside for a display of period rooms
such as could be found in the homes of the early
settlers of the Kansas Territory. The recon-
struction, furnishing, and maintenance of these
rooms has been accomplished by the Leaven-
worth County Historical Society. An appealing
exhibit, and a source of envy for the younger
male visitor, is a collection of miniature soldiers
that has been leaned to the museum by Lt Col
3. von Schriltz. These thousands of miniatures,
authentically uniformed and equipped in the
most minute details, are arranged in forma-
tions depicting military regiments of the world.

Stimulated by a progressive museum pro-
gram, visits to the museum have increased from
about 500 persons each month in 1958 to a
total of over 54,000 persons in 1963. Miss Cox
and her museum staff conduct group tours for
Post personnel, visiting dignitaries, and groups
from schools and civie and professional organi-
zations, The museum personnel participate in
numerous local, state, and regional historical
affairs. The Fort Leavenworth Museum, by re-
fRecting what the community is and what it once
was, creates a consciousness of the heritage and
affairs of the Post unattainable by any other
means,
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J. Franklin Bell Hall (front view)

CHAPTER IV
THE COLLEGE, 1952-63

In the years following World War II, the
mission and osperational procedures of the 1. S,
Army Command and General Staff College be-
came more firmly established than in any
previous period in the history of the academic
institution at Fort Leavenworth. The primary
course of instruction, the 10-month Regular
Course, was conducted once each year from
September until June. A shorter, 13-week As-
sociate Course was also scheduled each year
as a means for inereagsing the professicnal
ability of the officer corps within all three com-
ponents of the Army: the Regular Army, the
National Guard, and the Army Reserve. The
stated purpose of the two courses was identical:
“To prepare officers for duty as commanders
and staff officers at the division and higher
levels.”*

" Circular No. 202, War Department, 9 July 1946.

The College staff and faculty maintained of-
fices and supporting facilities in the Grant—
Sherman—=Sheridan Hall complex under the
clock tower which had become a symbol of
recoghition for officers of many nationalities
throughout the world. Student classroom activi-
ties were concentrated, for the most part, in
Gruber and Andrews Halls, Gruber Hall, origi-
nally a massive brick riding hall, housed the
classes of the Regular Course students. The
smaller classes for the Associate Course were
conducted in the wood-constructed Andrews
Hall.

The academic pace and pressure which had
long been associated with student life at the
Army’s senior school of tactical knowledge were
not diminished after completion of the accel-
erated wartime program. Selection for attend-
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ance at the College continued to be made on a
highly competitive basis. Competition during
the demanding courses of instruction is a very
tangible aspect of a student’s assignment as
class members vied for positions at the top of
the final academic standings. Graduation from
the Command and General Staff College is a
signal achievement in an officer’s career, an
achievement to which a great deal of impor-
tance ig attached in determining his future as-
signment to positions of increasing respon-
gibility.
THE KOREAN WAR PERIOD

The initiation of the “police action” follow-
ing the Communist invasion of South Korea
had less immediate impact upon the planned
and programed activities of the Command
and General Staff College than any previous
conflict involving US Army forces. To some
degree, this may be explained by the fact that
the extent of military effort that was eventually
required for enforcement of the United Na-
tions’ principles in that country was not ini-
tially indicated. Then, too, the curriculum of
the College, which had been expanded to include
the many diverse military aspects of World
War II, required little actual modification to
incorporate lessons learned from the combat
operations in Korea., While the Korean War
necessitated no major changes in College or-
ganization or instruction, the Chinese Com-
munist intervention and the resulting mobiliza-
tion of US Army components created a greater
demand for trained officers. Fort Leavenworth
and the Command and General Staff College
were called upon to satisfy this demand.

The size of the Regular Classes was increased,
beginning with the course starting in 1951
which contained approximately 550 members.
Starting in 1952, and continuing until the pres-
ent time, the Associate Course was scheduled
twice a year from January until May and from
August to Deecember, Initially, about 280 stu-
dents were enrolled in each class. The Associate
Course was lengthened from 13 to 16 weeks in
1953 and, beginning that year, the class was
divided into two groups for the final month of
the course. One group of student officers re-
ceived specialized instruction in the combat
arms during that period, and the other group
devoted their time to the study of the logistical
fields.

The College organization in 1952, as it had
evolved at the direction of Commandants Maj
Gen Horace L. McBride and his successor, Maj
Gen Henry I. Hodes, included five instructional
departments. Supervised by an Executive for
Instruction, Col James W. Coutts, these de-
partments presented all of the classes to the
resident courses. Department I, headed by Col
Frederick H. Loomis, presented instruction re-
lating to intelligence matters. Col Marshall W,
Frame wag in charge of Department II which
was concerned with armored operations and
logistics. Department III, supervised by Col
Keith H. Ewbank, taught ground operations
and air support, while Col Charles R. Murray
and Department IV were charged with air-
borne and amphibious operations. Department
V dealt with personnel matters and wag under
the direction of Col Willlam 8. Bodner. Non-
resident instruction by extension course for
student officers was administered by Depart-
ment VI under Col James B. Evans. Another
instructional group, Department VII, was es-
tablished that year to prepare and present in-
struction in the tactical employment of nuclear
weapons. These ingtructors, under Col Karl
F. Eklund, occupied Pope Hall where they pre-
sented their first course of instruction in the
fall of 1952,

The curriculum of the College was plahned
and administered as directed by the Assistant
Commandant, Emphasis was placed on com-
mand responsibilities, the functions of the gen-
eral stafl as it contributes to command, and the
coordination of the general staff operating as
a team.” Instruction was, as it is now, based
upon a process of learning by application. The
student became familiar with the subject mat-
ter by individual reading and study outside
scheduled class hours. The subject matter was
then clarified by classroom application through
the use of practical exercises, map exercises,
and conferences. Most of the instruction was
presented to groups of from 50 to 80 students
each.

The Program of Instruction for the Regular
course totaled 1,253 hours of eclassrcom work
and related activities, Students began their
studies with a thorough grounding in the prin-
ciples of war and fundamentals of combat, and

# Imstructional Circular No. 1, Command and General

Staff College, Fort Leavenworth, Kansas, 1 September
1953,
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continued through field army operations. An
exercise designed around a joint Army, Navy,
and Air Force operation, including an amphibi-
ous landing and an airborne assault, put the
students through their paces in a realistic man-
ner, Fifteen examinations took up 58 hours
of the course as a means for student evalua-
tion.

THE DOCTRINAL MISSION

An object of continuous study within the
area of operations of the Command and General
Staff College had been the relationship of the
gtaff and faculty to the formulation of tactical
doctrine® for the Army. When Maj Gen Gar-
rison H. Davidson arrived at the College as
Commandant in July 1964, he reviewed the
doctrinal mission as stated in SR 350-5-5: “to
initiate action as necessary to formulate or
revige (tactical and logistical) doctrine (of the
combined arms and services).” This mission
wag especially significant at the time becaunse
of the tactical adaptations for the conduct of
land warfare resulting from the existence of
nuclear weapons. At that time a relatively
small section of 12 officers was charged with
the development of future doctrine, while the
respongibility for current doctrine was gplit
between the Executive for Instruction and the
Executive for Research and Evaluation. Realiz-
ing that current doctrine was the basis for the
curriculum at the College, the Commandant as-
signed this area of responsibility to the Execu-
tive for Instruction, Col John A. Gavin. For
the development of future doctrine, an organi-
zation based on a weapon system approach
was established. This new organization was
placed under the direct supervision of Col Seth
L. Weld, Jr., the Executive for Research and
Analysis, It was composed of three agencies:
Current Analysis Section (CAS), Combat De-
velopments Department (CDD), and Advanced
Operations Research Department (AORD).
AORD was concerned with developing doctrine
within a long-range time frame of 10 or more
years in the future. CDD was assigned a gimilar
funetion, but limited to a midrange time frame
of 5 years, The CAS function was to handle

?“Principles, policies, and concepts, applicable to a
subject, which are derived from experience or theory,
compiled and taught for guidance. It represents the
best available thought that can be defended by reason.”
—Dictionary of US Army Terms, Department of the
Army, January 1961,

doctrinal studies and other similar projects
assigned to the College by outside agencies,
thus freeing AORD and CDD from the inter-
ruptions of planned operalions that these ac-
tivities had caused in the past.

A total of 42 officer positions were included
in the faculty organization for doctrinal mat-
ters and, eventually, 35 of these spaces were
filled. To insure that the best qualified officers
were made available to fill the authorized
spaces, General Davidson wrote and talked with
the chief of each technical service, and per-
sonally visited in Washington, D.C., with a
representative of each arm and service. All
were keenly interested and enthusiastic in
their support of the College effort in this field.

STAFF REORGANIZATION

Another major action undertaken by General
Davidson in 1954 was the recrganization of the
College staff along directorate rather than
executive lines. A feature of the existing or-
ganization that appeared to warrant correction
wag the span of control that was required by
the Assistant Commandant, who had 21 officers
reporting to him directly. The Commandant
directed an ad hoc committee to take the
matter under study, and the committee’s recom-
mendations were placed in effect about 1 year
later,

A significant aspect of the resulting reorgani-
zation was the assignment of all instructional
responsibilities to a Director of Instruction.
Col William W. Culp, the first officer to occupy
this position, was placed in charge of the resi-
dent and nonresident instruction departments—
seven in number. An academic staff, the special
representatives of the technical and adminis-
trative services, and sections representing the
other US Armed Forces, as well as liaizon of-
ficers from Great Britain and France, were
under his supervision. In short order, the Di-
rector of Instruction became the focal point
around which the execution of the College in-
structional mission revolved, The two other
directorate agencies constituting the new or-
ganization were the Director of Research and
Analysis, previously mentioned, and the of-
fice of College Secretary, then directed by Col
John F. Franklin, Jr., which carried out the
administrative and supply functions for the
College, supervised the Printing Plant, the
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Bookstore, the Library, and many other activi-
ties,

Simultaneously with this reorganization, a
curriculum plan was devised to start with the
1956-57 Regular Course, which featured four
phases of instruction. Phase I familiarized the
student with certain basie principles and tech-
niques, phase II was devoted to the application
of these principles and techniques to the solu-
tion of relatively simple military problems,
while phase III was concerned with increas-
ingly broader and more complex problems and
situations. Phase IV consisted of subject mat-
ter which would provide the student a general
understanding of military affairs to widen his
knowledge and background. The first three of
these phases were presented in numerical se-
quence, with a certain desirable degree of over-
lap. The phase IV subjects were interspersed
throughout the entire course.

STUDENT ACTRVITIES

The Regular Class of 1954-55 engaged in a
publishing venture that produced a class year-
book to preserve the memory of their tour at
Fort Leavenworth. This was the first project
of this type to be accomplished by student of-
ficers as far as can be determined. The result-
ing volume, titled The Bell, established a
precedent that has been followed by the publica-
tion of a similar yearbook by each succeeding
Regular Class. Lt Col Jack N. Hemingway
served as Editor-in-Chief for the first year-
book staff of 52 officers and 6 wives. The book,
which was prepared for the presses in an
amazingly short period of time, presented an
attractively balanced reflection of the serious
and humorous side of student life, and also
included separate group photographs of each
student officer and his family. Cartoon work by
student artists gave recognition to a common
academic affliction known as the “green sheet
shakes.” This phrage described a state of trepi-
dation experienced prior to committing one’s
memory and knowledge to written solutions on
the familiar green-colored examination answer
sheets.

The class will be gure to remember the hours
gpent on staff studies examining the practicality
of combining the G2 and G3 operations; the
times when the 201st Armored Cavalry was
called upon to save the day in a theoretical
problem situation; and the classroom time ex-

pended in fruitless efforts to enable the 20th
Division to capture the French town of Lam-
baille. Recollections of the days spent in Gruber
Hall include the evasive action required to elude
the persistent wasps attending classes with the
students, and the flexibility of classroom ar-
rangements made possible by a rather com-
plicated system of movable walls. These adapta-
ble partitions had already been “immortalized”
by a student’s poem that concluded:

. .. and when 1 make my last long hike,

If the heavenly host are workmanlike,

Those Pearly Gates will open like—

The folding walls of Gruber.*

EDUCATIONAL SURVEY COMMISSION

In 1955, General Davidson, as Commandant
of the College, requested an objective evaluation
of the academic operation at Fort Leavenworth
from an “outsider’s” point of view. The last
such appraisal, made in 1946 by a group of
prominent civilian educators, resulted in the
adoption of numerous changes and modifica-
tions in the College curriculum and instrue-
tional methods. Because of the many develop-
ments in the College that had oceurred since
1946, the Commandant decided that it was time
for another survey. Whereas the original sur-
vey group had been composed entirely of civil-
ian members, General Davidson felt that it was
desirable to have the survey performed by a
combination of military personnel and civilians.

The Educational Survey Commission was
made up of three corps commanders of World
War II; retired Lieutenant Generals Troy H.
Middleton, Geoffrey Keyes, and Manton 8.
Eddy. The remainder of the commission con-
gisted of three civilian educators, with equally
distinguished backgrounds in their fields;
Doctors Harl Douglags, H. F. Harding, and
Jacob 3. Orleans.” The commission was in ses-
sion at the Post in January and March of 1956,
and submitted a final report that June.

In general terms, the Survey Commission in-
dorsed the operations of the College and ap-
proved recent efforts by the staff and faculty
to increase the educational stature of the insti-

*Lt Col R. M. Walker—Class of 1952.

® Dr. Douglass at the time was Director, College of
Education, University of Colorado; Dr. Harding was
Professor of Speech, Ohio State University; and Dr.
QOrleans was Director of Research and Education, City
College of New York.
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tution. The final report included numerous
specific recommendations for possible improve-
ment and areas that appeared to warrant
study. The commission’s report was com-
pleted within weeks of General Davidson’s de-
partore and the incoming Commandant, Gen-
eral MeGarr, understandably deferred action on
the recommendations until he could complete
a personal and directed study of the academic
situation of the time. It should be noted that
General McGarr did concur later in over two-
thirds of the commission’s recommendations
and incorporated them in the next major re-
visions within the College.

DIAMOND JUBILEE CELEBRATION

The 7th of May 1956 marked the 75th an-
niversary of the founding of the military schoel
system at Fort Leavenworth which had devel-
oped into the Command and General Staff Col-
lege, and a Diamond Jubilee Program was
held at the Post to commemorate the occasion.
The scheduled ceremonies included an address
by the Secretary of the Army, Wilbur M.
Brucker, a reception and luncheon for some
500 invited military and civilian guests, and a
parade by the 16th Infantry Regiment of the
1st Infantry Division from Fort Riley, Kansas.
Thig parade also marked the first time that a
unit of the 16th Infantry had set foot on the
Fort Leavenworth Reservation since 1899 when
elements of the regiment had departed the
Post for service in the Spanish-American War.
Another feature of the program was the presen-
tation to the College of the original “Leaven-
worth Lamp” by the Kansas City Chapter,
Military Order of the World Wars. This lamp
was the outcome of a degire of the Commandant
in 19556 for a traditional symbol of learning
suitable for an award to indicate past mem-
bership on the College staff and faculty. The
following description of the lamp is based on
the design finally approved as a composite of
ideas submitted in a Post-wide suggestion con-
“test held in October 1955:

The base ig the traditional lamp of learn-
ing symbolizing the knowledge acquired at
the College—from which is emerging a
mailed fist symbolizing the military nature
of the knowledge taught at the College.

Clenched in the fist are a rifle and sword
connoting the origin of the College in 1881
as the School for Application of Infantry and

Cavalry in the past with a guided missile
symbolizing the future.

The entire symbol thus represents the
idea that from the College emerge the leaders,
who with their knowledge and control of
the past, present, and future weapons of

. war protect our liberty.’

5 Army Photo
The Leavenworth Lamp

The lamp was unveiled before Secretary
Brucker and the large audience which had
gathered in Andrews Hall to hear the Honor-
able Mr. Brucker’s address. The first of many
miniature replicas of the original Leavenworth
Lamp was presented to General Davidson in
July of 1956 immediately prior to his departure
from the Post.

Other visible evidence of General Davidson’s
tour as Commanding General of Fort Leaven-
worth is the distinctive shoulder pateh now
worn by all military personnel assigned to the
College and the Post garrison. The request for
such a patch was submitted in 1954 and was
approved and authorized for wear in June
1956. The official description of this now-fa-
miliar patch reads:

On a white shield 214 inches in width and

21% inches in height overall, with a 14 inch

red border, a blue chevron between three

blue lamps, two at the top above the chevron
and one below. :

The design is based on the shield of the
device approved for the school.”

* Afteraction Report 3 July 1954 to 9 July 1956,

Commandant, The Command and General Staff College,
Fort Leavenworth, Kansas.

* I'bid.
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MAJOR REVISIONS

In July of 1956 a new Commandant, Maj Gen
Lionel C. MeGarr arrived at the Command and
General Staff College. Several factors indicated
to General McGarr the necessity for further
revisions of the College organizalion and cur-
riculum. Most apparent among these factors
were the report of the Educational Survey Com-
mission, a USCONARC requirement directing
increased emphasis on nuclear weapons in-
struction and nuclear warfare, and the pending
conversion of the Army’s divisions to the pen-
tomiic battle group structure.

Because of the magnitude of the changes en-
visioned by the Commandant, and the necessity
for maintaining continuity of student instrue-
tion and College operation, a transitional or-
ganization of instructional eommittees was
planned and established to commence academic
preparations for the Regular Course of 1957-
58. The personnel required to staff these com-
mittees were drawn from the officers assigned
to the existing instructional departments. The
departments continued with the instruction of
the classes in residence, but gradually trans-
ferred increasing numbers of personnel to the
instructional planning committees as they were
made available by the completion of courses.
The result was an orderly transfer of all neces-
sary personnel to the new committees which
was completed during the academic break be-
tween Regular Courses in the summer of 19567,
The planning committees then became the in-
structional departments for the next scheduled
courses. A large share of the credit for this re-
organization and complete revigion of the Col-
lege curriculum ig due to Col Ward S. Ryan,
who was appointed as the coordinator for the
entire project.

The revized organization was a departure
from the centrally controlled director staff
concept in that the principal College staff was
now composed of asgistants to the assistant
commandant (a title later changed to chief).
These positions initially included an As-
sistant for Resident Instruction, first filled
by Col Harold C. Davall; an Assistant for Non-
resident Instruction, to which Col Edward C.
Dunn was appointed; and an Assistant for Re-
search and Analysis with Col William M. Con-
nor first assuming those duties. Later in the

gsame year, the office of the Assistant for Re-
search and Analysis was eliminated and the
missions it had served were expanded and as-
signed to the newly created positions of the As-
sistant for Doctrine and the Assistant for Com-
bat Developments, Colonels Dunn and Victor
W. Hobson, respectively, were the initial heads
of these activities.

The instructional departments that grew out
of the planning committee system were estab-
lished along more functional, self-contained
lines. The Departments of Nonresident Instruc-
tion and Special Weapons, which had previ-
ously been functionally organized departments,
were retained intact within the new structure
of the College staff and faculty. The remaining
instructional responsibilities were assumed by
the Departments of the Armored Division, the
Infantry Division, Airborne Operations and
Army Aviation (later this department was
also to include Unconventional Warfare), Staff
and Education, Larger Units and Administra-
tive Support, and Combat Developments. Sepa-
rate doctrinal elements, consisting of a nucleus
of officers assigned this function on a full-time
basis, were formed within each of the depart-
ments. These elements assisted the College in
keeping abreast of the expanding doctrinal
mission by conducting the actual review, revi-
sion, and development of doctrine. Depart-
mental coordination in doctrinal matters was
accomplished by the Assistant for Doctrine,

Another feature of this reorganization was
the elimination of the academic staff. Under
the new concept of decentralization, whieh had
been recommended by the Educational Survey
Commission, the instructional departments
were granted increased authority for the devel-
opment of curriculum content which had for-
merly been controlled by the academic staff.
A decentralization of subject matter review was
effected, with this responsibility delegated to
the departments, as opposed to the previous
control of these matters by a College review
board.

The curriculum for the 1957-58 academic
year was completely rewritten. When placed
into effect, the Regular Course program devoted
approximately 67 percent of the instruction
to intelligence and operations subjects, with the
remainder taken up by logistics, personnel,
and civil affairs subjects. With the outbreak of
small-scale aggression in several areas through-
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out the world, recognition was given to the
necessity for increased emphagis on limited
war. Applicatory instruction with geographical
problem settings was almost equally divided
between general war and limited war situa-
tions, with about 7 percent of the instruction
oriented on conditions short of actual war. In
the past, nearly 90 percent of the locales for
this applicatory instruction had been in west-
ern Europe. The new program of instrue-
tion placed over 30 percent of these problem
settings in eastern Europe (to include the
USSR), and another 40 percent in the Middle
East, Africa, and Asia.

A standard 6-hour academic day was estab-
lished with instruction equally divided between
the morning and afternoon periods. This
method of operation lent itself to the develop-
ment of classroom instruction around 3-hour
instructional blocks, and greatly facilitated
scheduling of the program.

BELL HALL

Of tremendeus importance to the growth and
development of the Command and General Staff
College wag the completion of this new aca-
demic building. General Davidson had traveled
to Washington, D. C., in mid-1955 to appear be-
fore the Senate Appropriations Committee
and was successful in obtaining the reinstate-
ment of the project in the Military Construc-
tion Program. The House Military Affairs Com-
mittee had previously approved the expenditure
of funds for such a project, but the bill was
eliminated by the House of Representatives.
Plans for the building were developed and ap-
proved, Congressional approval was granted in
the summer of 1956, and construction began
the following November.

This $5 million structure was dedicated
on 14 January 1959 to the memory of Maj Gen
James Franklin Bell, a holder of the Medal of
Honor. General Bell had been instrumental in
assisting the Seecretary of War in the develop-
ment of an overall plan for the Army educa-
tional system following the conclusion of the
Spanish-American War, In recognition of the
ahility he had displayed in this connection, Gen-
eral Bell was designated Commandant of the
Schools and Staff College at Fort Leavenworth
during the years 1903-06. While in that capacity
he egtablished a reputation as the founder of
modern methods of instruction in the Army.

Secretary of the Army Wilbur M, Brucker,

on his second trip to the Post within a year,
delivered the dedication address at ceremonies
held in the spacious auditorinm of Bell Hall
The ceremonies included a symbolic completion
of the laying of the cornerstone, and the un-
covering of a memorial plaque in General Bell’s
honor. The activities of this day culminated
the efforts of past commandants and faculty
members, originating as early as 1935, to ob-
tain an academic facility which would support
adequately the contributions by the College to
the Army and the Nation.

U8 Avrmy Photo

Unveiling of the memorial plague in honor of General

Bell by Scceretary of the Army Brucker and General
MeGarr

J. Franklin Bell Hall is a figure 4 shaped
building situated on Arsenal Hill overlooking
the Missouri River. It contains over 300,000
square feet of floor space. Its unique design
provides a two-story classroom and auditorium
unit, a basement unit, and a three-story office
unit containing a faculty briefing room, library,
and offices. The classroom wing contains 24
large, fully equipped classrooms which will each
accommodate 55 students with ease. The main
auditorium has a capacity of 1,425 persons
and the faculty briefing roem has over 300
seats. Bell Hall’'s completion made possible the
consolidation of academic faecilities which had
been housed either in antiquated buildings or
converted structures dispersed over a consider-
able area of the Post. Two individuals most in-
timately concerned with the interior arrange-
ments and appointments of the ultramodern
building were Dr. Ivan J, Birrer, the College
Educational Advisor, and Maj Wiifred C.
Washcoe, the head of the College Editing and
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Publishing Unit. With the increase in class-
room space and other facilities provided by
Bell Hall, an increased student enrollment was
authorized by the Department of the Army
commencing with the 1959-60 academic year.
The Regular Course was planned for a student
body of 750 officers, and 400 officers were to
attend the Associate Courses.

The College in 1959 prepared to sponsor &
courge to be condueted under the auspiees of
the Chief of Information. First known as the
Special Information Course for Reserve Com-
ponents Officers, it wag designed to provide
personnel in the civilian community from the
fields of information, education, public rela-
tions, and politics with an understanding of
Army requirements, developments, missions,
and goals. The first class was held for 2 weeks
in August of the same year for 50 selected of-
ficers, Guest speakers and instruectors from
various Department of the Army agencies were
provided to augment the instruetion prepared
and presented by the College staff and faculty.’

NUCLEAR WEAPGNS INSTRUCTION

Slide rules, P(f) nomographs, scaling laws,
and nuclear damage templates became tools of
the military trade as instruction to provide the
requisite knowledge for the tactical employ-
ment of nuclear weapons was added to the Col-
lege curriculum. First presented by the College
in a 6-week course in the fall of 1952, nuclear
weapons instruction had developed into two
courses by 1956, A 5-week course was presented
to students selected Army-wide, and a 31%-
week course was presented to selected gradu-
ates of the Regular and Associate Courses to
train specialists in this field. These Nuclear
Weapons Employment Courses (NWEC) con-
tinued in this manner until the shorter course
was determinated at the direction of USCON-
ARC in 1958. Responsibility for the b-week
course was transferred to the Artillery and
Missile School in July 1962 when the fraining
requirement had diminished because of the in-
corporation of this instruction in the pro-
grams of the branch service schools. A 1-week
refresher course for officers previously awarded
the MOS prefix of a nuclear weapons employ-
ment officer is conducted at the College on a
recurring basis.

8The last course of this type was conducted in June
1963. No further such courses are scheduled.

A 2-week Senior Officer Nuclear Weapons
Employment Courge (SONWEC) was initiated
in March of 1957 with the purpose to train
major unit eommanders and their senior staff
officers in the tactical, logistical, and adminis-
trative doctrine, techniques, and procedures ap-
plicable in employing nuclear weapons to sup-
port Army operations, including training in the
technical considerations and operations in-
volved. In 1961, the course title was changed
to the Senior Officers Advanced Operations
Course, a title deemed better suited to indicate
that the course was no longer golely restricted
to nuclear weapons employment, but now pro-
vided a working knowledge of considerations
applicable to current and future warfare. Six
courses of 1 week’s duration were conducted
during fiscal year 1962. The course was dis-
continued in May 1962 because of its close
similarity fo a course then commencing at the
Air Defense School.

EDUCATIONAL ADVISOR

A unique position at the College is that of
the civilian Educational Advisor. His duties
involve advising and providing consultation to
the staff and faculty on matters of educational
policy, methods, and procedures. Dr. Ivan J.
Birrer has ably filled this position since 1948,
and has become a familiar personality to
thousands of officers serving tours of duty at
the Post. He has provided invaluable continuity
in College operations and developments over
the years, as the military membership of the
College has changed time and again, and its
educational philosophy has been progresaively
developed. In recognition of Dr. Birrer’s out-
standing contribution to the College, he re-
ceived the Meritorious Civilian Service Award
in July 1960. General McGarr, in making the
presentation, paid tribute to the ability, loyalty,
and sincerity Dr. Birrer has devoted to the Col-
lege and the many community activities in
which he is engaged. In a turnabout presenta-
tion, the Educational Advisor then presented
the Commandant a token from the staff and
faculty—a miniature Leavenworth Lamp—
commemorating the clogse of General McGarr’s
eventful tour at the Post.

ACADEMIC AWARDS
Two awards for student academic achieve-
ment have been instituted at the College in re-
cent years. The General George C. Marshall
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award to the top student of a graduating class
was presented by Gen George IH. Decker, the
Army Chief of Staff, during graduation cere-
monies of the Associate Course on 16 December
1960. This digtinction for scholastic accom-
plishment was accorded for the first time to Lt
Col John A. Ely. The initial presentation of the
Gen John J. Pershing award was made to Lt
Col Asa Barnard in June 1962. This engraved
medallion recognizes the first-ranking student
in the 5-year USAR school program of exten-
sion and resident instruction. Appropriately,
the award was established 40 years from the
time that General Pershing, then War Depart-
ment Chief of Staff, had ordered the initiation
of an Army extension course program.

EFFECTS OF THE ARMY REORGANIZATION

The organization and routine of the College
had remained relatively stable sinee 1957 until
a chanpe was required by the major reorganiza-
tion of the Department of the Army in mid-
1962. A part of this reorganization provided
for the forming of the Army Combat Develop-
ments Command which would consolidate under
one agency the combat developments missions
then assigned to USCONARC, the technical and
administrative services, and other agencies.
The mission of this command included the de-
velopment of “doctrine and the preparation of
tables of organization and equipment and field
manuals to disseminate new or revised doctrinal
concepts.”® This mission assignment reduced
the docirinal and combat developments fune-
tions previously performed by the College. The
Chief of Resident Instruction, Col Jasper J.
Wilson, was then given the responsibility for
insuring that the instruction presented at the
College conformed with current doctrine and
Army policy.

Concurrently with the relief from the doc-
trinal mission, the teaching departments under-
went a reorganization which provided for an
even more functional assignment of respon-
gibility. Five departments were established, in-
cluding the Department of Nonresident Instruc-
tion which remained essentially the same as
before. The new faculty structure consisted of
the following departments and assigned objec-
tives. The Department of Command, headed by
Col Wilson M. Hawkins, was to give resident

® Report on the Reorganization of the Army, Depart-
ment of the Army, December 1961.

instruction in the art of command; the fune-
tions, techniques, procedures, and relationships
of the gtaff; the command, staff, and technical
aspects of the employment of special weapons;
political-military theory; and the basis of na-
tional strategic planning. The Department of
Division Operations formed under Col Law-
rence M. Wilson was to give resident instruc-
tion in division operations, less joint and com-
bined aspects. Col William H. Blakefield, as-
signed as the Secretary of the College in 1963,
was placed in charge of the Department of
Joint, Combined, and Special Operations which
wag to present instruction in joint and com-
bined operations; joint operations to include
airborne, amphibious, air-ground, and air de-
fense operations; counterinsurgency and un-
conventional warfare; psychological warfare;
electronic warfare; and war gaming. Col
Augustug T, Terry, Jr., was placed in charge
of the Department of Larger Unit Operations
which dealt with resident instruction in corps
(less the airborne corps) and field army opera-
tiong; and combat service support of larger
units (above division level) including the em-
ployment of logistical commands.*

Another change placed in effect at the same
time was the elimination of the final specialized
phases of instruction in either the eombat or
logistical fields for the students of the Associate
Courses. The course duration was increased to
18 weeks and one common program of instruc-
tion became effective for all Associate class
members.

CONCLUSION

The years in the history of the U, 8. Army
Command and General Staff College treated in
this chapter have brought about the growth
and development of the College to an undis-
puted position as the senior Army school of
tactical knowledge—a status that has been
justly accorded worldwide recognition., The
College programs have matured and crystal-
lized to the extent that major changes appear
neither justified nor required in the foreseeable
future. This has been made possible only by the
evolution of an academic institution with suf-
ficient inherent flexibility in operation and
philosophy:to maintain its leading position in
the Army’s role of national defense.

© Orgam‘zaiian and Functions Manual, Headquarters,
Fort Leavenworth, Kansas, December 1962.
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Student officers receiving instruction

CHAPTER V
THE COLLEGE TODAY

The year 1963 passed without interruption
or disturbance of planned operations as the
academic mission of the U. 8. Army Command
and General Staff College was accomplished.
Students arriving for the first course of the
calendar year—the spring Associate Course—
reported to Bell Hall for registration and
processing and were greeted with the efficiency
which has become an accustomed feature of the
Post and College functioning. Procedures for
this purpose have been effectively establighed
to take care of the multitude of details that
an officer must attend to upon arrival at a new
post. For this one centralized -operation, the
processing line includes representation from

all Post activities, official and extracurricular,
Students are able to accomplish every require-
ment from the completion of travel vouchers
to registering their automobiles. The same
friendly assistance wag experienced in the
late summer by the more than 700 members of
the 1963-64 Regular Class when they found
that quarters had been assigned and house-
hold goods moved in; or cots, bedding, and
other furnishings set up until their personal
effects would arrive. With the Regular Class in
residence, and either the spring or fall As-
sociate Courses underway, the student popula-
tion at Fort Leavenworth approaches 1,200
officers.
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A perpetual student problem arises in the
search for automobile parking spaces in the
vicinity of Bell Hall. Some students effectively
solve this problem with bicycle transportation,
while many others walk to and from classes
and thereby obtain the benefits of exercise to
compensate for an otherwise fairly sedentary
academic day. Student athletic programs are
organized for each class to furnish physical
exertion to alleviate the mental exertion that
occurs during the schoolday. Students work off
excess energy, maintain physical fitness, and oc-
casionally break bones in intramural volley-
ball, bowling, basketball, softball, and tennis
tournaments as well as in many other Post
sports faecilities.

Friday evening is generally a period of re-
laxation for the students after the conclusion
of the week's classes. Much of informal en-
tertaining takes place in student family guar-
ters, and the activity in the large student apart-
ment building known as the Beehive leaves
ne doubt concerning the reason for ity name.
Many student officers gather at the Officers’
Club during “happy hour” for animated discus-
siong during which the classroom battles are
refought and the college solution is a much
discussed topic. The average student, however,
spends much of his weekend time studying
in preparation for the coming week. The Col-
lege sets a traditionally demanding pace for
its students, emphasizing military education
rather than training.

THE STAFF AND FACULTY

The College at present is organized to oper-
ate within the guidelines and general policies
prescribed by the Commandant, Maj Gen Harry
J. Lemley, Jr., and under the supervision of the
Assistant Commandant, Brig Gen Elias C.
Townsend. The College Secretary, Col William
H. Blakefield, is the principal subordinate to the
Assistant Commandant in the planning, prepa-
ration, and conduct of College affairs. The bulk
of College staff functions are delegated to three
coordinating agencies: the offices of the Chief
of Resident Instruction, the Chief of Non-
resident Instruction, and the Secretariat.

Col Francis W. O’Brien, as Chief of Resident

Instruction, is responsible for the staff super-
vision of the instruction presented to students

at the College and for the recommendation of
policy concerning the curriculum. The Chief
of Nonresident Instruction, Col Richard M.
Leonard, exercises similar authority over the
College programs of nonresident instruction.

On two occasions in 1963, the College struec-
ture underwent revision, With the first re-
vision, the Office of the Secretary assumed
several responsibilities which had been dele-
gated previously to the Chiefs of Resident and
Nonresident Instruction and the Class Super-
visor. These included the classroom support for
the resident courses, the assembly and distribu-
tion of resident and nonresident instructional
materials, and the administration, direction,
and supervision of the resident US students.
Also assigned to this office was the supervisory
respongibility for the Army Field Printing and
Instructional Aids Plant and the College Book
Store, These functions were placed under
the staff supervision of Col I. L. Luthi with
the title of Deputy Secretary/Class Director,
and the entire agency was titled the College
Secretariat.

The second revision resulted in the discon-
tinuance of the Department of Nonresident
Instruction. Responsibility for the preparation
of nonresident courses and instruetional ma-
terial was given to the appropriate resident
departments, thus consolidating all ingtruc-
tional activities.

Organization of the instructional depart-
ments and the responsibilities discharged by
each remain as discussed in the preceding
chapter. The services of a variety of other
special staff sections and agencies also con-
tribute to the depth of experience within the
broad scope of the College staff and faculty ac-
tivities. Liaison officers from the British,
French, and Canadian Armies present resident
instruction and advise on matters concern-
ing their respective armed forces. In May
1963 arrangements were completed for a
liaison officer from the Federal Republic of
Germany to be assigned to the College, the of-
ficer to be named at a later date. Representa-
tives of the US Navy, Marine Corps, and
Air Force accomplish identical duties for
their Services. A group of US Army special
representatives from the technical and adminis-
trative services are assigned within the in-
structional departments to furnish advice and
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assistance in areas related to their branches
and agencies.
RESIDENT COURSES

The Regular Course program for the 1963-
64 academic year was designed:

To provide officers with a working knowl-
edge for wartime and peacetime duty, to
include the joint aspects thereof, as com-
manders and general staff officers at division,
corpe, field army, and army group {(opera-
tions only) to include their combat support
systems. To provide a basis for satisfac-
tory performance in a wide variety of com-
mand and staff positions at nontactical head-
quarters, To provide the basiz for future
development for progression to higher com-
mand and staff responsibilities.

Over 1,150 hours of academic instruction
were included in the Regular Course, of which
over 40 percent were scheduled for practical
work and about 30 percent for conferences.
The course included 670 US officers who
average 36 years of age and 12 years of com-
missioned service. Over 80 percent of the stu-
dents were in the grade of major. Prerequisites
for attendance included a maximum age of 40
years, a minimum of 8 but not more than 15
years of promotion list service for Regular
Army officers, a minimum of 8 but not more
than 15 years commissioned service for Reserve
officers on extended active duty, and a minimuom
of B years commissioned service for Reserve
Component officers in an active status but not
on active duty.” In addition to the US members,
the class included 75 Allied officers in the grades
of captain through brigadier general repre-
senting the armed forces of 46 foreign coun-
tries.

Two Associate Courses were scheduled for
the 1963-64 academic year. Each of these 18-
week courses was programed for 448 students
of the Regular Army, Reserve Components on
active duty or active duty for training only,
and our Allied armed forces. Nearly 45 per-
cent of the first class was made up of Regular
Army officers. The stated purpose of this course
is:

~ To provide officers with a working knowl-

edge for wartime and peacetime duty as com-
_‘—Pﬁram of Instruction for Command and General

Staff Officer Course, Fort Leavenworth, Kansas, April
1963.

# I'bid.

manders and general staff officers of divisions
and logistical commands and 2 general knowl-
edge of the duties of commander and gen-
eral staff officers at corps and field army to
include their combat support systems. To
provide the basis for future development for
progression to higher command and staff
responsibilities.®
Qualifications for attendance at the Associate
Course are the same as those established for
the Regular Course except that a student may
be 44 years of age, Regular Army officers must
have between 15 and 19 years of promotion list

. US Army Photo
J. Franklin Bell Hall

gervice, and Reserve Component officers on
active duty must not have over 19 years of
commissioned service.*

A preparatory course is conducted prior to
the beginning of each Regular Course at the
College. This course is provided for the Allied
students, US officers of the Navy, Marine Corps,
and Air Force, and selected US Army officers,
It is a resident course of 8 weeks to pre-
pare students for the Regular Course and to
orient the Allied officers on the customs and
traditions of the United Stafes. The course is
presented in two phases, with the US officers
joining the Allied students for phase II, the
final 3 weeks of the instruction.

Allied officers scheduled for an Associate
Course atiend a similar precourse orientation
for 1 week. Future plans provide that all Allied
students who attend the Associate Course will
go to the first (or fall) course of each aca-
demic year. Under this plan, these Allied stu-

3 Program of Instruction for Associate Command and

General Staff Officer Course, Fort Leavenworth,
Kansas, April 1963.

* Ibid.
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dents will also attend the 8-week preparatory
course along with the Regular Course Allied
officers, and the l-week orientation program
will be discontinued.

In both the Regular and Associate Courses,
Allied students receive an 18-hour instructor
orientation program to prepare them for in-
structor duties if they are so assigned upon
return to their countries. This program is
gcheduled during the time the US students of
the class are receiving classified ingtruction.

Two types of Command and General Staff
Officer Refresher Courses are also conducted
at the College. Of these, a 1-week combat divi-
sion course is presented to two classes, each of
approximately 230 students, during the early
summer months. One class is composed of
National Guard division commanders, general
‘staff officers, and their prineipal assistants. The
other class consists of officers assigned to
similar positions in Army Reserve divisions and
maneuver area commands. The purpose of
both courses is identical—“to provide refresher
training as a unit to commanders and staffs of
National Guard and Army Reserve, armored,
mechanized, infantry, and training divisions,
and maneuver area commands; to develop staff
teamwork ; and to instruct in the application of
current doctrine.”®

The second type of refresher course, also 1
week long, is scheduled once a year for about
60 officers assigned as commanders, operational
stafl section directors, and their principal as-
gistants of Army Reserve logistical commands.
This course provideg “military training and
education as a unit to commanders and staffs
of Army Reserve logistical commands, includ-
ing the principles and techniques of combat
gervice gupport provided by a communications
zone for one or more field armies.”®

The College prepares newly assigned mem-
bers of the staff and faculty for instructor
duties by an Instructor Training Course which
is scheduled prior to the start of each academic
vear and at other times as required. These
courges, a little over 1 week in duration, orient
the prospective instructors on the College or-

Staff Officer Refresher-—Combat Division, Fort Leav-
enworth, Kansas, December 1963. ‘

* Program of Instruction for Command and General
Staff Officer Refresher-—Logistical Command, Fert
Leavenworth, November 1962,

ganization and operation, instructional philos-
ophy, and methodology, and provide them with
practical work in the preparation and presenta-
tion of instruction. Additional training for
author/instructors is provided by an annual
Instructor Workshop. The lecture and con-
ference periods of this course afford a staff and
faculty understanding of the College guidance
and curriculum changes directed for the coming
academie year, and include discussions of prob-
lems and various means to overcome them.
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NONRESIDENT INSTRUCTION

Nonresident programs of instruction have
been .developed concurrently with the resident
programs of the College to provide professional
military education for present and potential
eommanders and general staff officers of all
three Army components. The courses presented
are in two categories—career courses and
gpecial courses. Career courses are the USAR
School Associate Command and General Staff
Course and the USACGSC Extension Course.
The special courses are the Special Extension
Course—Preparatory and the Special Exten-
sion Course—Graduate Refresher.

. The USAR Schocl Associate Command and
General Staff Course is a 5-year program of
classroom instruction for Reserve Component
officers conducted for approximately 120
hours a year. The instruction each year is
divided into two periods. The reserve duty
training period congists of 24 classroom as-
semblies, each lasting 2 hours, conducted from
September through May at a USAR school in
the student’s community. The second period
i3 a 2-week active duty encampmeni during
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June, July, or August at an Active Army site
in the student’s army area. The active duty
training period in the fifth and final year is
conducted at Fort Leavenworth for all students.
The entire program of ingtruction closely paral-
lels the resident Associate Course, and students
who successfully complete the course are
awarded a diploma from the College. The USAR
schools are staffed by Reserve officers not on
active duty, and are supervised by the appro-
priate corps commanders and school comman-
dants.

The USACGSC Extension Course also paral-
lels the resident Associate Course and is pre-
sented by correspondence to members of all
Army components. It consists of 28 subeourses,
each of which contains from three to nine les-
gons. Students who satisfactorily complete all
subcourses are awarded a certificate of com-
pletion by the College. They may obtain a di-
ploma by attending the 2-week fifth year active
duty training period of resident instruction at
Fort Leavenworth. The programs of this
course and the USAR schools course have been
designed to permit students to transfer from
one to the other to alleviate conflicts with
their civilian oecupations and duties with their
reserve units,

The Special Extension Course—Preparatory
was initiated in 1958 and is now sent to all
officers selected to attend the Regular and As-
sociate Courses. It is a course of self-instruc-
tion containing material designed to introduce
the selected officers to the basic terms, pro-
cedures, concepts, and organizations used in
resident instruction at the College.

A Graduate Refresher Extensgion Course is
available to graduates of either resident or
nonresident courses of the College as a means
of keeping up with the latest College instrue-
tion on Army doctrine, organization, techniques,
and procedures. The course was first offered in
1960 and consists of eight lessons in two parts
to permit incorporation of the latest informa-
tion. The first part is issued in January and
the second part in June.

Additionally, the office of the Chief of Non-
resident Instruction distributes staff training
material to Reserve Component units which
supplements the instruction presented in the
resident refresher courses. All available mate-
rial is listed in a catalog published annually,
and provides up to 120 hours of instructional

subjects applicable to the various Reserve Com-
ponent units.

In May 1961 a 1-week instructor training
conference wag instituted for the officers who
instruct in the USAR School Associate Com-
mand and General Staff Courses. The primary
purpose of this conference is to familiarize
these selected instructors with the educational
philosophy and policies of the College, and thus
promote high standards of instruction in the
USAR schools. The principal objective of this
training is to provide at least one instructor
graduate for each USAR school. As of May
1963, 207 instructors from 97 schools had at-
tended this conference.

THE ALLIED PERSONNEL PROGRAM

Each year, officers from Allied nations all
over the world converge on Fort Leavenworth
to attend the Regular and Associate Courses
of the College. Thig interesting aspect of the
College operation is one of the most unique, and
most potentially rewarding, of the activities
at the Post.

The program for the officers of countries
allied with the United States had its modest
beginning in 1894 with the enrollment of a
lieutenant of the Swiss army for 6 months of
instruction. In 1908, two officers from the Mexi-
can Army attended the Staff College course, and
the pattern was established for the continuing
inclusion of Allied officers in the resgident
courses of instruction. By the end of the 1963-
64 academic year approximately 2,600 Allied
officers will have been graduated from the Col-
lege. This program is a vitally important fea-
ture of our Nation’s efforts to strengthen the
alliances with free nations of the world by in-
creasing the professional competence of their
military leaders.

Allied student officers are administered by
the Office of the Director Allied Personnel. This
office, presently in the charge of Col David M.
Ramsey, Jr., is respongible for all matters con-
cerning the Allies except the instruction pre-
sented in the courses. The organization con-
sists of an Instruetional Section and an Ad-
ministrative and Personnel Affairs Section. The
functions of the latter section are for the most
part explained by its title, and include the
resolution of all the problems incidental to the
stay of a visitor in a foreign land. The Instrue-
tional Section plans and conducts preparatory
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courses for the Allies and monitors their aca-
demie progress, paying particular attention to
any language difficulties they may encounter.
In addition, the section arranges an orienta-
tion program to acquaint these students with
the American way of life. The official phases
of this program include a wide variety of edu-
cational films and visits to points of interest
in the Middle West. A major feature of the
program are trips to industrial centers and the
Washington, D. C. area.

US Army Photo
Allied wives at o tea sponsored by the Imternational
Group of the Fort Leavenworth Officers Wives Club

The Allied officers’ lives at Fort Leavenworth
are not devoted entirely to an official or academic
existence. It is essential that they feel at home,
and this is capably handled by US officers and
their families as well as families and ecivic
groups in the surrounding civilian community.
Unofficially, the Allied officers and their fam-
ilies are given an insight into Ameriean social
customs and activities both on and off the Post.
An officer of the Fort Leavenworth garrison is
assigned to each Allied officer on & voluntary
basis to spongor his stay at the Post—a pro-
gram which results in many mutually enjoyable

and rewarding friendships. The International .

Group of the Fort Leavenworth Women’s Club
plays a major role in making the Allied officers
and their families welcome by providing as-
sigtance and social activities. Under the aus-
pices of the local chapter of the Junior Chamber
of Commerce, US families in L.eavenworth are
assigned, again on a voluntary basis, as civilian
gponsors for each Allied family. The Rotary
Clubg of Leavenworth and Kansas City, the
Kansas City chapters of the American Red

Cross and Military Order of World Wars, and
other civilian groups host a variety of social
functions for the Allied siudents each year.

In return for infermation acquired about
the United States, the Allied officers take advan-
tage of an opportunity to increage the general
knowledge and appreciation of their countries
among the US personnel at Fort Leavenworth
by participating in the College “Know Your
World” program. This program is a series of
travelogs presented by the Alied officers after
normal clags hours. The periods are well at-
tended and of great interest to military and
civilian personnel.

Through this program of academic and secial
activities, the Allied students take back to their
countries a well-grounded understanding of
who we are, how we live, and what makes up
our basic philogsophies. They alsc become aec-
guainted with other Allied students and, by
their classroom and off-duty associations, fur-
ther their understanding of the people and
cugtoms of many different nations..

THE MILITARY REVIEW

The Military Review is an official Army pub-
lication, published by specific authorization of
the Department of the Army. Publication is
financed with appropriated funds and the
magazine is subject to Governmment printing
regulations. The mission of the Military Review
is to provide a forum for the expression of
military thought, with emphasis on the doctrine
pertaining to division and higher ievels of com-
mand. The views expressed in the magazine
are those of the authors and are not necessarily
those of the Army or the Command and General
Staff College.

The Military Keview accomplishes its mis-
sion through the publication of original articles
of current interest by authoritative US and
foreign authors, digests of selected articles
from foreign and domestic sources, reviews of
books on professional military subjects, and a
military notes section of short, illustrated
feature items. Printed monthly and distributed
to approximately 21,000 readers, the magazine’s
influence extends over a wide area. It is a
valuable source of material for the Command
and General Staff College, the Army War Col-
lege, Army Reserve schools, and other Army
educational and fraining faecilities. It is also
stocked in the libraries of numerous civilian
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universities, and principal US and foreign mili-
tary installations.

In the furtherance of inter-American mili-
tary knowledge and cooperation, the magazine
is also published in Spanish for Latin and South
American countries, and in Portuguese for
distribution in Brazil. Publication of the
Spanish-American edition is supervised by US
Army officers; the Brazilian edition, because
of the extensive use of the publication by the
military forces of that country, is edited by an
officer assighed by the Brazilian Ministry of
Defense. Recently, at the recommendation of
the current Brazilian Editor, Lt Col Joaoc A.
Faco, the Chief of the Brazilian Military Com-
mission in Washington, D. C., assumed a degree
of responsibility for the Brazilian edition.

Significant changes in concept and format
of the Military Review have been implemented
gince 1960 by the Editor in Chief, Col Kenneth
E. Lay. Emphasis on purely doctrinal matters
has been deemphasized under the premise that
official field manuals are the appropriate pub-
lications for the dissemination of doctrine. In
1961 it was decided that each issue would pre-
gent a balanced coverage of various subject
areas, rather than the special issue practice
of the past. Currently, for example, an issue
may contain a historical article, one on counter-
insurgency, perhaps one on world strategy,
another on division organization, and others.

A beneficial liaison relationship was estab-
lished in 1961 when Lt Col Daniel E. Halpin,
a member of the Army War College Faculty,
was announced as an Associate Editor of the
Military Review. In a mutual agreement be-
tween the Commandants of the two colleges,
this Associate Editor reviews possible source
material at the War College for Military Re-
view articles, and makes recommendations con-
cerning publication to the editor in chief. He
also furnishes advice and assistance concerning
source material under consideration by the Mii-
ttary Review about which the War College may
have particular knowledge.

Prior to 1961, editions of the Military Re-
view reflected an austerity policy. Major con-
sideration was given to economy of space, and
white unprinted areas were regarded as
wasteful. Understandably, this policy did not
lend itself to the production of an attractive

magazine. The January 1961 edition of the
Military Review introduced the new look
which was based, in part, upon a survey of
the magazine’s readers. Page size was increased
ag was the type face. A simple, attractive cover
design was incorporated and more liberal and
judicious use of illustrations and artwork was
employed. The guideline was that each article
would be treated as a separate case, illustrated
and laid out in a manner best suited to make it
attractive and readable. A military digests sec-
tion of condensed reprints of previously pub-
lished material was discontinued, with these
digests treated similarly to original articles and
interspersed throughout the magazine,

The 40th year of publication was celebrated
by the staff of the Military Review in February
1962. An open house, held in the editorial of-
fices, and an official reception were attended by
members of the College staff and faculty, and
civilian guesgts prominent in the fields of edu-
cational and commercial journalism. Gen
Barksdale Hamlett, the Army Deputy Chief
of Staff for Military Operations, was the guest
of honor and speaker at the reception held at
the Officers’ Open Mess. A program for con-
tinued improvement in the publication of the
Military Review was announced by the Com-
mandant, General Johnson, and published in
a special 40th Anniversary supplement to the
magazine.

Effective with the November 1963 issue, an
awards program to recognize outstanding au-
thorship was established that differed from
previous programs of this nature. As announced
by the Commandant, General Lemley, the pro-
gram provides that authors of award articles
will receive a $25 bonus and an engraved cer-
tificate in addition to a standard honorarium.
Award articles will be selected, without regard
to number, and announced in subsequent issues
of the Military Review. In a revised selection
process, each of the College departments and
staff agencies submits monthly nominations for
evaluation by the Military Review staff which
will, in turn, submit recommendations to the
Commandant for final approval.

Other recent innovations designed to increase
the popularity and circulation, while improving
the content of the magazine, include the distri-
bution of informative news letters, a facts and
features handout for general use, a trial
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subseription plan at reduced rates for gradu-
ates of the College, and an effort to sell the
the Military Review in service school book
stores.

The above measures, and numerous others,
have heen taken at the offices of the Military
Review by a staff determined that the publica-
tion will continue to warrant the tribute paid in
1962 on the occasion of its 40th year of ex-
istence:

Throughout this age of remarkable devel-
opment, the Military Review has kept pace
with the needs of the Army it serves.
Through its close association with the Com-
mand and General Staff College, it has pro-
vided an important medium for the presenta-
tion and dissemination of Army doctrine. As
a forum for the expression of informed opin-
ions and advanced thinking, the Military
Review has afforded our military leaders that
opportunity for critical analysis and frank
evaluation which is so essential to progress.’

THE PRINTING PLANT

After many years of operation with sections
physically separated in several locations, the
Army Field Printing and Instructional Aids
Plant moved info its present location on Grant
Avenue in 1950. The primary mission of the
Plant is to provide printing and training aids
to support resident and nonresident instruction
at the College. Within the capabilities of the
Plant, support is also rendered to Post activi-
ties and other authorized agencies. In addition,
the Plant prints the Milifary Review and oper-
ates an Audio-Visual Communications Center
(formerly known as a Film and Equipment Ex-
change) and a Photographic Laboratory.

As one of the more modern facilities of its
type in the Army, the Plant has undergone
numerous changes in recent years to effect
greater economy and more efficient use of man-
power and material. These changes have in-
cluded a phasing out of letterpress equipment,
which has been replaced by cold-type composi-
tion and an augmented lithographic capability.
Modernized processes and the mechanization
of hand operations have been incorporated as
new equipment has become available to satisfy
requirements of the Plant. The College makes

? Message from the Secretary of the Army, Washing-
ton, D. C., January 1962.

extensive use of overhead transparencies as in-
structional aids because of the ease with which
information can be imparted by this technique.
The capability for production of these instruec-
tional aids was significantly increased in 1952
when a complete gilk screen processing facility
was added to the Plant, and again in 1956 when
color film processing equipment was installed
in the Photographic Laboratory.

Today the Army Field Printing and Instruc-
tional Aids Plant is equipped and staffed to
provide limited letterpress printing; complete
lithographic printing of multi-colored maps,
map overprints, and overlays; instructional
texts and administrative publications; a wide
variety of instructional aids; and photographic
development and printing facilities in support
of the College and the Post,

LIBRARY DIVISION

An important facility of the College today
is its Library Division under the supervigion
of Mr. Anthony F. McGraw. The Library Divi-
sion is administered by the College Secretariat
to provide materials and assistance to the stu-
dents, the staff and faculty, and the military
personnel and their dependents at Fort Leaven-
worth, The Library has been a recognized ne-
cesgity for academic operations from the found-
ing of the first school at the Post. From a rather
inauspicious start in those early years, almost
entirely caused by a lack of funds, the Library
has grown to present holdings of over 85,000
volumes and periodicals, more than a score of
newspaper subseriptions, and a impressive
number of pamphlets, documents, and tape
recordings.

A College Archives was first established in
1943 as a repository for numerous classified
documents received during World War TI. In
1963, the holdings of this document library
number over 230,000 items, including extensive
files of microfilm, and provide an invaluable
source of military reference and background
material in nearly every imaginable field. The
Library, which was located in Wagner Hall
until 1959, now occupies most of the second
and third floors in the center wing of Bell Hall.
In 1963, the Archives was consolidated with
the Library and is now operated as an integral
part of the Library Division. The Library is
used extensively at the present time in connec-
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tion with administrative, educational, and re-
gearch activities at the College.

GUEST SPEAKERS

The Guest Speaker Program of the College
has proved a most effective means to provide a
general knowledge in support of the curriculum
through the services of a vast array of authori-
tative lecturers, both military and civilian. As
an indication of the importance currently at-
tached to this facet of the College operation,
about 40 eminently qualified speakers present
provoeative and vital topies to each Regular
Course. More than 100 hours are allotted for
this purpose.

Topics cover a broad spectrum ranging from
the goals of US diplomacy and military strat-
egy, current developments in critical geograph-
ical areas of the world, communistic policies
and long-range plans, to the military possibili-
ties enabled by technological advances in space.
The last 30 to 40 minutes of a guest speaker
presentation are usually devoted to a question
and answer period, Often, following the
formal presentation, seminars are scheduled,
with the speaker and selected students examin-
ing aspects of the subject matter in more detail.

The Chief of Resident Instruction is respon-
gible for the implementation of the Guest
Speaker Program, which is developed by his
office and the instructional departments. The
program consists of two parts: College speak-
ers and departmental speakers. The College
speakers present subject matter on broad topics
with general application to the curriculum as a
whole, while the departmental speakers dis-
cuss topics in support of a specific department,

During the 1958-59 academic year, the first
British lecturer to the United States under the
exchange program sponsored by the Kermit
Roosevelt Foundation spoke at the College, This
lecture series has continued since that time,

The Guest Speaker Program is recognized as
an important supplement to classroom instruc-
tion at the College. During recent years, the
College has been most succesgful in obtaining

as guest speakers high level military officers
and civilians well qualified in their fields.

THE HONORS PROGRAM

Members of the 1963-64 class of the Com-
mand and General Staff Officer Course were
the first student officers to be offered an op-
portunity to participate in a voluntary program
officially known as the Honors Program. On
21 March 1963, this program was accredited
by the North Central Association of Colleges
and Secondary Schools for the award of the
degree Master of Military Art and Science.
Actual award of this degree cannot be ac-
complished until approval is granted by the
Congress of the United States. The Honorg Pro-
gram, which was designed to complement the
Regular Course, consists of the course itself, a
thesis describing a research experience on a
signifieant problem within the scope of the Col-
lege curriculum, and comprehensive written
and oral examinations.

It Col Bruce C. Koch was appointed the
special assistant to the College Secretary to
plan and organize the program, and he worked
closely with Dr. Birrer in its development.
Students electing to take advantage of the pro-
gram are assigned faculty advisors to provide
assistance in their research efforts.

Although the first Honors Program is sched-
uled for completion subsequent to the time of
this writing, this challenging addition to the
curriculum gives every indication of providing
qualified students an opportunity to demon-
strate their capacities for advanced scholar-
ship. As such, it marks yet another milestone
in the progress of the College.

CONCGLUSION

This chapter has covered briefly the present
organization, operation, and activities of the U.
8. Army Command and General Staff College,
Despite the certainty of predictable and un-
foreseen future developments, the College can
be expected to insure, as it has so capably in
the past, that continuing service to the Army
and the Nation is rendered by an academic in-
stitution “Prepared in Peace for War.”
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CHAPTER VI
COMMUNITY LIFE

.The greater portion of the Fort Leavenworth
community is made up of student officers and
‘their families. This population, although pre-
dictably transitory, iz accorded treatment at
the Post in keeping with the justifiable im-
portance attached to the end product of the
. 8. Army Command and General Staff College

g
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The Post Chapel

—the officer graduate. Many of the organiza-
tions and activities of the Post have been ori-
ented on a mission to simplify, while at the
same time enrich, the life of the students and
their dependents in a manner unigque within
the Army establishment. Exclusive absorption
in an academic routine can be detrimental to
any well-adjusted person. This faet has long
been recognized at Fort Leavenworth which
probably offers more spiritual, professional,
social and recreational opportunities than any
other military installation or civiian com-
munity of comparable size.

COMMUNITY ACTIVITIES

Religious services and activities, a com-
munity focal point at every Army post, are
available to all at Tort Leavenworth. Three
Army chaplaing plan and present apiritual pro-
grams centered around chapel exercises and
" religious education, The present Post Chaplain,
Chaplain (L& Ceol) Henry L. Durand, also
guides the Catholic religious activities. Chap-
lains (Lt Col) Theodore V. Koepke and (Capt)

Wayne G, Shelton serve the Protestant mem-
bers of the military community.

Protestani religious programs provide gen-
eral Sunday services at the Post Chapel and
the Normandy Chapel as well as services for
the Episcopal, Lutheran, and Latter Day Saints
denominations. The choirs at both chapels are
notably outstanding. Several Protestant groups
complement the services of worship. Col James
E. Simmons heads the Protestant Men of the
Chapel which assists by providing ushers, set-
ting up Christmas, Easter, and outdoor services,
and supporting chapel organizations. The Prot-
estant Women of the Chapel are directed by
Mrs. James N. Love and attend to many chapel
activities. In addition to an Altar Guild, this
women’s group holds sessions of religious
study, repairs and maintains choir and acolyte
vestments, and promotes charitable functions.
The Protestant Youth of the Chapel are or-
ganized in a genior group by Lt Col and Mrs.
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Charles B, Ablett and Chaplain (Maj) and Mrs.
Thomas J. MeMinn, and a junior group by Col
and Mrs. Albert D. Shutz. The groups meet
at the Post Chapel Center on alternate Sundays.
Protestant acolytes serve at both chapels and
meet at the call of the Acolyte Fathers for prac-
tice and refreshments.

The Sunday School enrollment averages 1,400
children in classes scheduled at the Post Chapel
Center and Annex as well as the Normandy
Chapel Annex. The current Board of Super-
intendents is composed of Lt Cols Wayne F.
Pickell, John D. Ford, Raleigh O. Taylor, and
Harvey D. Piper. Clasges are conducted for
children from 2 years of age through senior
high school age.

An adult Bible study group meets regularly
at the Post Chapel Center Annex and additional
Bible studies are scheduled for a women’s class,
an enlisted class, and Sunday School classes.
Opportunities are provided during the year for
all Protestants degiring membership with a
specific denomination to attend preliminary
instruction and become members of their se-
lected church.

The Catholi¢ religious program at the Post
provides Catholic families with a schedule of
services to meet their religious needs., A total
of seven Sunday Masses are held at the St.
Ignativs and Normandy Chapels besides week-
day morning and afternoon Masses. An adult
choir and two youth choirs enhance liturgical
Tife and observances of the parish. All members
of parish families are invited to join the several
active parish societies.

The Holy Name Society, with Col Richard
M. Leonard as president, is the organization
for all Catholic men of the Post. Corporate
reception of Holy Communion by the society is
a monthly affair. The society, among its other
activities, assists in supervising the St. Ignatius
parochial school system. The Altar Rosary
Society conduets monthly meetings at which
Mrs. Melvin E. Hoekstra presides. A principal
project of these Catholic women is the adorn-
ment of the chapel altar and sanctuary. All
Catholic high school students, in the grades 9
through 12, are eligible for membership in the
Catholic Youth Organization Teen-age Club of
St. Ignatius Parish. The club’s objective is fo
provide an opportunity for discussion of the
religious and moral issues facing our youth, Lt
Col Theodore W. Peterson is the supervisor of

this group which also conducts a variety of
social events at its weekly meetings. An Altar
Boys Guild ig directed by Maj Eugene J. Ringel
to encourage young boys to assist at the altar
during Mass and devotions.

Scouting is a major character building ac-
tivity for the younger members of the Fort
Leavenworth community. Four troops of Girl
Scouts represent the Brownie, Junior, Cadette,
and Senijor levels of scouting. A program for
the older boys is provided by five Boy Scout
Troops and an Explorer Scout Post. The Post’s
Cub Scouts lay claim to belonging to the largest
Cub pack in the world.

The Girl Scout program in 1963 was opened
to girls from 7 to 17 years of age, regardless of
previous scouting experience. The current
neighborhood chairman is Mrs. Dayton F.
Caple. Spring campouts and day camps are
planned for all age groups, and the girls’ camp-
ing area on the Post, Camp Conestoga, is the
scene for campfires and songfests in the fall.

The theme for 1963’s Boy Scout activities was
“Scouting and Advancement” as every Scout
was encouraged to progress in rank and merit
badge achievement along with the healthy fun
and companionship that Scouting has always
provided. A ftraditional fall kick-off dinner
launches each year’s schedule of events which
include frequent camping and hiking trips in
areas around the Post. A permanent campsite,
Camp Miles, was completed during the summer
of 1963 in the northwestern part of the military
reservation through a mutual effort by Scouts
and parents. Monthly Courts of Honor are ar-
ranged by the chairman of the Troop Com-
mittee—now Col John O. Austin—to present a
Scout of the Month Award, ranks of advance-
ment, and merit badges.

Cubmaster for the “largest pack in the
world” is Maj Gerd S. Grombacher. The pack
has an annual membership of more than 300
boys which, because of its size, is divided into
four pack groups. In February the pack or-
ganizes its annual Blue and Gold banguet for
the young Scouts and their parents, and in
May they gather for & Cub Scout picnic,

The teen-age population at Fort Leavenworth
is one of the largest at any Army post in the
country. Fulfilling the needs of this group for
wholesome recreation and entertainment is the
Army Brats Club. The club provides music,
dancing facilities, ping-pong and billiard tables.
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Other assets include an outdoor patio, a snack
bar, and modern clubroom furniture. Super-
vigion ig provided by a full-time manager and
an advisory council, but the most important
feature of the club is that the sole responsi-
bility for its planning and maintenance is in
the hands of the teen-agers themselves.

A Youth Activities Association (formerly
known as the Dad’s Club) coordinates all Post
youth activities, making certain they operate
smoothly. The association’s general member-
ghip, with Col Abb Chrietzberg as president,
includes the fathers of all children at the Post.
It handles the organizational affairs and budg-
ets of the Scout groups, the youth baseball
leagues, a junior golf program, and the Army
Brats Club. In addition, the association al-
locates funds to the Special Services youth
projects for playgrounds, basketball leagues,
bowling, swimming, sports instruction, and
the Patch Community Center. Money to support
all these popular facilities and organizations,
g0 important to the younger set, comes from
a number of sources, but primarily from the
Leavenworth United Fund and proceeds from
the Post Thrift Shop.

The Post Rod and Gun Club is open to all
military personnel and dependents interested
in outdoor life—whether it be hunting, fishing,
training field dogs, or fish and game conserva-
tion. A clubroom located in McNair Hall is used
for biweekly meefings, which usually include
a speaker and films on some aspect of hunting
and fishing, and the several parties sponsored
by the club during the year. The club helds a
fishing derby each year for young anglers, with
prizes for the boy or girl catching the biggest,
smallest, and most fish. A spring fishing trip to
the Lake of the Ozarks is also arranged for
club members. Cabins, boats, and motorg are
reserved in advance of the motor earavan de-
parting the Post for a weekend of sport. One
of the chief aims of the club, however, is to
promote fish and game conservation. In a recent
operation supervised by club president, Col
Frank H. Barnhart, Jr., Merritt Lake was
cleaned and restocked with fish, and the club
plans to repeat the project in adjoining Smith
Lake. Game bird cover and food crops have been
distributed over the reservation game area, and
the local supply of quail has been increased by
stocking and controlled hunting to eomplement
the doves, pheasants, rabbits, and squirrels

found in the Post’s hunting areas. A yearly
drawing for prizes of outdoor equipment is
arranged to provide funds for these conserva-
tion projects.

An extremely spirited and colorful organiza-
tion at Fort Leavenworth is the hunt. First
organized in 1926, the hunt was officially recog-
nized as a member of the National Steeple
Chase and Hunt Association in 1981, and sub-
sequently became one of the most famous or-
ganizations of its type in the country. At the
outset of World War II, the hunt was dis-
banded and its colors retired. In 1951, a group
of military personnel obtained the use of two
stables on the Post and organized a self-sup-
porting, private riding club which, for the sake
of tradition, assumed the name “The Fort Leav-
enworth Hunt.”

During the 12-year period of this history, the
hunt operated facilities for the stabling of
private mounts, and conducted a variety of
informal riding activities—schooling, trail rid-
ing, field days or gymkhanas—as well as social
events. Major annual activities were the spring
and fall horse shows featuring equitation,
hunter, jumper, and novelty classes. The excit-
ingly interesting shows have attracted large
numbers of entries by horsemen from neigh-
boring areas of Kansas, Missouri, and Ne-
braska. A formal Hunt Ball has usually been
conducted at the time of the spring show.

Photo by Lt Col Richard W, Swenson
A group of members of the Fort Leavenworth Hunt
asgembled at the Hunt Lodge.

Until recently, the management of the hunt
has been handled by an elected board of gov-
ernors, and the regular membership varied
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from 35 to 50 officers and enlisted personnel.
The number of mounts stabled by the hunt has
been between 35 and 65 creating an average an-
nual requirement for some 10,000 bales of hay
and straw, and about 5,000 bushels of oats.
Three employees were maintained by the hunt
membership, with the members themselves
pitching in for special projects. In recent years,
the nature of the hunt membership has some-
what shifted. With a diminishing number of
“old cavalrymen” on the active roles of the
Army, adult membership has decreased, with a
compensating increase in active junior riders.
A Junior Hunt Council has been organized as
part of the regular riding association.

Also, in recent years, two events have been
established as traditional hunt activities. Each
year, on an evening just before Christmas,
mounted hunt members turn out in force, ac-
companied by other members riding in the old
hunt bandwagon and hay cart, for “carolling
on horseback.” The other popular event is a
gemiannual “Day at the Races” held at the Of-
ficers’ Meas for all mess members. The Mess
building is decorated in a racetrack motif, and
the feature attraction of the evening is a race
of wooden horses “ridden” by ladies of the Post
over a backgammon-like track according to the
fall of dice.

In April 1962 the hunt broadened its ac-
tivities by contracting for stable management
and the operation of a rental riding and in-
struction program. This service has been en-
thusiastically received and has resulted in an
increase of several hundred associate members.
The profits from this operation are devoted to
needed improvements to hunt property and
facilities.

The official name of the riding association
was changed to “The Hunt, Fort Leavenworth”
on April 7, 1963. In July of that year, under
the supervision of The Hunt President, Col
Edward R. Lewitz, The Hunt began truly living
up to its name by reviving fox hunting as one
of its activities. Kennels were built for a pack
of 14 foxhounds, and live and drag hunts have
been scheduled during the season under the
capable control of Masters of Foxhounds Maj
H. A. Kellner (US Army-retired) and Lt Col
Charles C. Ross, ,

An outstanding service to the community is
contributed by the Red Cross Volunteers who
donated well over 30,000 hours of their time to

the Munson Army Hospital during 1962-63.
These dedicated women are a familiar and
weleome sight to the patients and hospital staff
as they perform duties as gray ladies, nurses
aides, staff aides and in other ecapacities in
the less glamorous side of hospital routine,
Mrs. Robert H. Deason is chairman of these
volunteer services that assist the hospital med-
ical staff in the clinics and wards, the library,
and during annual physical examinations and
special inoculations for Post personnel.

The military education system at Fort Leav-
enworth discussed in the two preceding chap-
ters is supplemented by an adult civilian educa-
tion system for assisting active duty military
personnel in raising their levels of formal
schooling. The Post Education Center arranges
for educational programs such as correspond-
ence courses, preparatory group study classes,
proficiency testing, and instruction from aec-
credited colleges and universities. In one recent
year, 169 enlisted men completed high sehool
through the center, and over 60 gained the
equivalent of a year of college study. Increas-
ing numbers of officers, both permanent party
and students, attain the academic requirements
for the Army’s degree completion program
while at Fort Leavenworth. Evening courses
from the University of Kansas and nearby
Park and St. Mary’s Colleges are offered by

"the center for this purpose. Many of these

Army “bootstrappers” go on to earn Dbac-
calaureate degrees,

The Post community engages in so many
varied activities that a comprehensive descrip-
tion of them all would be most difficult. It is
even more difficult to determine an interest
outside normal family life and military duties
that cannot be pursued through member-
ship in one of Fort Leavenworth’s com-
munity organizations. For the more active
sportsmen, flying, parachuting, skeet, judo, and
even cricket clubs are available, The one rec-
reational activity attracting the greatest par-
ticipation continues to be the game of golf, as
devotees flock to the Post’s fine 27-hole ecourse
on days of fair weather (and other days not so
fair) throughout the entire year.

An extensive, long-range program for im-
provement and maintenance of the golf course
wag initiated in June 1963 under the guidance
of the Assistant Commandant, General Town-
gsend. The golf director at the time was Col
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Jameg B. Kemp who got the program underway.
On Colonel Kemp’s retirement in August, he
was succeeded by Col Robert W. McCartney.
The greenskeeper serving under hoth directors
was Mr. Cecil Miller, A tremendous improve-
ment in the playability and appearance of the
course has been brought about through the
preparation of a detailed, written plan for the
course, improved management techniques, and
a more effective use of materials for mainte-
nance. Installation of a permanent sprinkling
system on the greens was begun, holes were
renumbered to facilitate better control of play
from the first and tenth tees, numerous trees
were planted along the fairways, and the “back
9 was beautified by the draining and dredging
of Merritt Lake. These and other measures, in-
cluding the employment of a consultant on golf
courses from Kansas State, have resulted in
returning this course to its former position
as one of the finest in this area.

The traditional hub of Post social activity,
the Fort Leavenworth Officers’ Open Mess, is
scheduled for a major renovation. A general
repair and refurbishing of the swimming pool
were completed in July 1963 and a bath house
and poolside snack bar will be ready for the
1964 geason. The complete renovation, planned
under the supervigion of Col William H. Blake-
field, President of the Board of Governors, in-
cludes remodeling and construction modifica-
